
Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the April 4, 2023 meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Brandie Lopez

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0968

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       3



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 7th, 2023
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See Attached

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       4



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING        

02/07/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

__________________________________________________________________ 

MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN           VICE-CHAIRMAN                  COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER             JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY  CLERK-TREASURER 
_________________________________________________________________ 

Roll Call: Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 
Commissioner Lance Gilman, County Manager Austin Osborne, Deputy District Attorney Keith 
Loomis, Sheriff Mike Cullen, Recorder Dru McPherson, Comptroller Jennifer McCain, IT 
Director James Deane, Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar, Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki, 
Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan, Communications Director Becky Parsons, 
Business Development Manager Lara Mather, Community Relations Director Honey Menefee, 
Community Development Director Pete Renaud, Senior Center Director Stacy York 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING AT 10:00 AM
Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:03 AM

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
Agenda for the February 7, 2023, meeting.

County Manager Austin Osborne requested that Item #14 on the agenda be moved to 
after #5 on the Consent Agenda. 



‐ 2 ‐ 

Public Comment: None 

Motion:  I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Feb. 7, 2023, agenda as with 
noted changes. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote:  Motion passed unanimously. 

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
Minutes from the January 3, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the minutes from the Jan. 3, 2023,
meeting as presented. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

5. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
Minutes from the January 6, 2023, Special Meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the minutes from the Jan. 6, 2023,
special meeting as presented. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed
unanimously.

6. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION:
I For possible action, approval of business license first readings:

A. England’s Elite Pest Service – Out of County / 659 Washoe Dr. ~ Washoe
Valley, NV

B. Herca Telecomm Services Inc. – Contractor / 18610 Beck St. ~ Perris, CA
C. Kodiak Roofing & Waterproofing Co. – Contractor / 8825 Washington

Blvd. ~ Roseville, CA

II Approval of claims in the amount of $4,192,385.81. 

III Justice Court Quarterly Report - Q2 

IV Consideration and possible approval of update to Policy 212 Code of Ethical  
Standards to prohibit department heads and supervisors from negotiating,  
reviewing, or administering a contract between their respective department and  
a relative or an entity controlled by a relative that is within the third degree of  
consanguinity or affinity with the department head or supervisor. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 



‐ 3 ‐ 

14. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval
authorizing the County Manager to sign a contract between Storey County and Foley
Public Affairs for lobbying and government affairs services during the 2023 Nevada
legislative session from February 7 through June 30, 2023, for $5,000 per month.

County Manager Osborne said this contract is to help the county on legislative matters
and work with the lobbyists already focusing on county issues. He noted SB81 bill on
regional collaboration, the I80 bill and bills looking abatements and regional impacts,
among other things. He introduced Helen Foley, who has 20 years with her firm and a
background of working with both political parties. Ms. Foley called this a unique
opportunity to represent Northern Nevada, noting that Storey County has grown so much
and Southern Nevada legislators didn’t know much about the county.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve authorizing the County Manager to
sign a contract between Storey County and Foley Public Affairs for lobbying and
government affairs services during the 2023 Nevada legislative session from February 7
through June 30, 2023, for $5,000 per month. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote:
Motion carried unanimously.

7. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action): None

8. DISCUSSION ONLY (No action, no public comment): Committee/Staff Reports.

Sheriff Mike Cullen 
 There will be a meeting for volunteers at 1705 Peru Drive, TRIC, for people who want to

see what is happening with volunteering.
 We had a very successful testing for deputies and are looking forward to bringing on

some new folks.

Jason Wierzbicki, Public Works Director 
 Snow removal is continuing and the new blower has been a massive help to our

operation.

Mike Northan, Operations and Projects Coordinator 
 The metal building for Station 72 in the Virginia City Highlands is moving out of design

and into production, with a full schedule from the contractor.
 Station 75 in TRIC is moving along, with Community Development inspectors working,

and meetings planned to discuss strategies in including an EMS office and sheriff’s
substation.

 The V&T Freight Depot has a proposal to modify the pressure sensitive valves, which
has caused the fire alarm to go off.



‐ 4 ‐ 

 A new generator for the Community Development Building and the Divide Building will
solve problems with power outages. community development generator which will solve
problems with power outages.

 There is a plan to pave the parking area of the Divide building and plans will come before
the board. Grants are being sought.

Lara Mather, Business Development Director 
 Spent two days at a public official’s program and was able to network with other rural

county officials.
 Gave a presentation at UNR for the Federal Economic Development Authority, including

funding for infrastructure that will create jobs. A tour of TRIC was given and the focus
was on infrastructure that would support the county seat in order to connect the two.

 Went to a small business fair in Carson City focusing on grants, loans and training. Plans
a small business fair in Virginia City for the spring.

 Will be going to the NACO conference.

Honey Menefee, Community Relations Director 
 Attended a Western Nevada Development District summit focused on grant

opportunities, with meetings with the Governor’s Office, Railroad Association presented
a course. We told them more about the county than they understood.

Comptroller Jennifer McCain 
 Budgets are moving along and department level budgets are due Feb. 9.

IT Director James Deane 
 Trying to keep up with storm damage for the microwave links.

Pete Renaud, Community Development Director 
 There are many applications for new buildings.

10. 10:30 A.M. PUBLIC HEARING: Public Hearing on the proposed ordinance 22-321
which proposes the adoption of amendment to Storey County Code section 15.04.01 to
include in the adopted codes the 2018 International Fire Code, and the 2018 International
Wildland Urban Interface Code, the 2018 Northern Nevada Amendments to
the International Wildland and Urban-Interface Code, and the 2022 amendments to the
2018 International Fire Code, and (2) amends section 15.04.080 to address deletions from
the 2018 International Wildland Urban interface Code and other matters properly related
thereto.

Deputy District Attorney Loomis said this is to get comments from the public prior to
adopting the ordinance.

Public Comment: None



‐ 5 ‐ 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to close the public hearing on Ordinance No. 
22-321.Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

11. DISCUSSION/FOR PUBLIC ACTION: Review and possible approval of Ordinance
22-321 making amendments to Storey County Code section 15.04.01 to include in the
adopted codes the 2018 International Fire Code, and the 2018 International Wildland-
Urban Interface Code, the 2018 Northern Nevada Amendments to the International
Wildland and Urban-Interface Code, and the 2022 Amendments to the 2018
International Fire Code, and (2) amends section 15.04.080 to address deletions from the
2018 International Wildland Urban interface Code and other matters properly
related thereto.

Deputy District Attorney Loomis said this is the actual item for Board consideration on 
whether to adopt the ordinance and the uniform codes.  

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I Commissioner Mitchell, move to adopt Ordinance No. 22-321. Seconded by: 
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

9. BOARD COMMENT (No action, no public comment):

Commissioner Mitchell noted he would be going to Washington DC for the NACO
conference, and there was much action in the state Legislature to monitor.

12. DISCUSSION ONLY: Recognition of Sergeant John-Michael Mendoza for 25 years of
service to the Storey County Sheriff's Office and to the residents and businesses of Storey
County.

Sgt. John Michael Mendoza was honored for 25 years of service to the Storey County
Sheriff’s Office. He was given a plaque in honor of his service and photos were taken.
The commissioners praised him for his service.

Public Comment: Erik Schoen praised Sgt. Mendoza for his work with seniors and his
help to the Community Chest.

13. DISCUSSION/POSSIBLE ACTION: Annual update of the Community Chest, Inc., by
CEO Erik Schoen about social services, youth and adult programs, health clinic, and
other programs.

Community Chest Executive Director Erik Schoen gave a formal PowerPoint
presentation on the work of the Community Chest for the past year. He included
information on before- and after-school programs, health programs, food programs,
counseling programs, youth work programs, a new infant care program, the CowBus
program and more. He said demand has increased across the board. In response to a



‐ 6 ‐ 

question, he said space and staffing are limited. The PowerPoint presentation is available 
on the Storey County web site under Agendas/Board of Commissioners. 

Public Comment: None 

15. DISCUSSION/POSSIBLE ACTION: Update, discussion, and provide direction to
county staff and lobbyists regarding upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey
County including, but not limited to, AB63 Storey County I-80 “safety corridor” bill,
BDR 460 lands transfer bill, SB81 regional coordination bill, and other properly related
matters.

County Manager Osborne said that items AB240 and SB81 come from the 2019
Legislative Session requiring county officials in the region to meet regularly and write a
report on issues affecting the region. City officials would be for consultation only. That
has been expanded to include some legislators watching the collaboration process, which
he said is a daily occurrence among municipalities. He said his focus was on legislation
that could be disadvantageous to Storey County and is working on making amendments
to bring these back and include some minority party legislators. He asked for discussion
and guidance from the board.

The commissioners supported the county staff’s position. Commissioner Mitchell
expressed concern about state Legislators getting involved in regional planning.

Mr. Osborne said the fiscal analysis report, which is posted on the county web site under
county manager, said that $3.5 billion goes to Washoe County due to the businesses at
TRIC, particularly in sales tax.

Storey County sponsored a bill, the I80 safety corridor bill, called AB63, which includes
three sections, Creating a conversation among stakeholders to address problems on I80
between Sparks and Fernley. Painting lines, reducing truck speeds, limiting trucks to one
lane and similar suggestions. Long-term solutions include widening the highway,
improving the highway, and creating a north connector. The bill said once the short-term
solutions are in place, the state could seek funding for major improvements.
Commissioner Gilman supported implementing these solutions soon, as several Google
employees have been killed on the highway. Commissioner Mitchell echoed those
sentiments, and acknowledged we were many years off for the long-term solutions.
Commissioner Carmona called the short-term solutions critical for safety on the
Interstate. He suggested getting support from trucking companies.

County Manager Osborne said the county is reaching out to other county and city
officials and the Trucking Association.

Mr. Osborn also said he is monitoring possible action to take action against our
abatement money when, in 2024, the abatements expire.



‐ 7 ‐ 

He said that all department heads and elected officials are monitoring bills of impact and 
interest to their areas of responsibility.  

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct county staff and lobbyists to represent 
Storey County in accordance with the report given by County Manager Osborne and the 
discussion that we had on this agenda item. Seconded by: Lance Gilman Vote: Motion 
carried unanimously. 

16. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT.

17. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible approval, update,
discussion, and provide direction to district staff and lobbyists regarding upcoming bills
and legislation affecting the Storey County Fire Protection District including, but not
limited to, AB63 Storey County 1-80 "safety corridor" bill, AB24 revisions to the EMS
committee, BDR 859 Revisions to governing emergency medical services, and other
properly related matters.

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar said the district was watching AB63, as FPD staff are the ones
who often respond to accidents on the highway.

He said AB24 involves the structure of EMS. Around 80% of the district’s calls are for
EMS. He said the Bill is proposing changes to committee and moving it away from the
Division of Behavioral Health to the Fire Marshal’s Office. The bill draft is being
handled by the Committee on Health and Human Services.

He said the regional fire agencies work together frequently and all are watching bills that
may affect them.

BDR 859 is being pushed by Nevada Fire Chiefs Assn. and is a reaction to the economic
growth of the region. Most of the area are Fire Protection Districts and do not have a seat
at the table when abatements are discussed. It is the Association’s goal to make
modifications on how much abatement they can apply to fire protection districts. He
asked what the board expected from him and what his limitations were.

He also said he would be watching SB81, which also has a direct impact on the district.

Commissioner Gilman said he didn’t want to put any limitations on what Fire Chief
Loncar did insofar as watching legislation. Commissioner Mitchell pointed out that even
with abatements some funds should come in to support the fire district. He recommended
a light touch and tread lightly due to lots of different interests. Commissioner Carmona
agreed the county should keep a close eye on these bills and bill drafts, but still handle
with kid gloves. He said the fire district should keep the board updated. Commissioner
Mitchell suggested we focus on how much outreach should be done with stakeholders.



‐ 8 ‐ 

He thought this bill might move quickly. Chief Loncar said he would bring the issue back 
to the board. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct staff and lobbyists to represent 
the Storey County Fire Protection District in the bills discussed under this agenda item, to 
continue in accordance with the discussion that we’ve had. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. 
Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

18. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Resolution No.23-667 causing the 2018 Edition of the International Fire Code, the 2022
amendments to that code proposed by the Storey County Fire Protection District, dated
September 26, 2022, the 2018 Edition of the International Wildland Urban Interface
Code, and the 2018 Amendments to that code as proposed by the Northern Nevada
Chapter of the International Code Council dated November 13, 2018 to become
regulations of the Storey County Fire Protection District.

Deputy District Attorney Loomis said there is a separate process for fire regulations than
ordinances. This item is related to the ordinance passed earlier after the public hearing,
and consideration of the proposed resolution is natural follow-up.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Resolution No. 23-667 and
authorize the chairman to sign. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried
unanimously.

19. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to
authorize the Fire Chief to hire a newly created Fire Inspector II in the 2022/2023 budget.

Chief Loncar explained that with the dramatic increase in inspections and plan reviews in
TRIC, the two staff members are inundated and the district needs another Fire Inspector
II to keep from delaying projects.

Commissioner Gilman said that we must keep committed to project timelines and
promises as this is vital to attracting development in TRIC. Commissioner Carmona said
it is good to keep promises.

Comptroller McCain said this is an augmented budget change, but unanticipated revenues
can cover the cost with plan review fees.

Public Comment: None



‐ 9 ‐ 

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve and authorize the Fire Chief to 
hire a Fire Inspector II in the current budget year. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: 
Motion carried unanimously. 

20. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Resolution No. 23-670, a resolution setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by
ordinance or resolution per NRS 474.470 for appointed and non-represented Storey
County Fire Protection District officials for the 2021-22 fiscal year and superseding prior
year action by resolution for appointed Storey County Fire Protection District employees
with adjustments of adding a Fire Inspector II position with a pay grade set at Grade 128.

Chief Loncar said this is a formality based on approval to hire an additional Fire
Inspector.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve resolution No. 23-670, a
resolution setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by ordinance or resolution
per NRS 474.470 for appointed and non-represented Storey County Fire Protection
District officials for the 2022-23 fiscal year and superseding prior year action by
resolution for appointed Storey County Fire Protection District employees with
adjustments of adding a Fire Inspector II position with a pay grade set at Grade 128.
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

21. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible direction to staff
from the board on the 2023 draft Storey County Fire Protection District Capital and
Operational Improvement Plan update.

Chief Loncar said he had modified the CIP budget and was seeking questions and input
on the budget. Commissioner Carmona said he didn’t see anything that was a problem.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct staff to continue developing the
updated draft Storey County Fire Protection District Capital and Operational
Improvement Plan and to bring a final draft to the board at a later meeting for potential
approval. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously

22. DISCUSSION ONLY: Second quarter financial review of the Fire District revenues are
trending where we expect at the end of the second quarter.

Comptroller McCain said that with all funds combined, approximately 68% has been
collected. Ad Valorem is higher due to the payments coming in stronger at the beginning
of the year. Overall, the Fire District expenses are tracking slightly under budget with
approximately 63% remaining for all funds. She said that 80% of the revenue was



‐ 10 ‐ 

collected as plans and permits surpassed expectations. General fund is at 43% of usage 
overall.  

Commissioner Mitchell noted that business licenses are indicated at 0 in the report and 
asked if this will be a updated later? Chief Loncar said that data point was set from years 
past when it was recorded differently. Comptroller McCain said that the building permit 
numbers are in a combined line item and will be broken out later. 

Public Comment: None 

23. ADJOURN TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

24. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for
the Storey County Senior Center to enter contract with the Storey County School
District to provide breakfast and lunch to Hugh Gallagher Elementary School for the
remainder of the 2023 calendar school year.

Senior Center Director Stacy York, with Hugh Gallagher Elementary Principal Sonja
Hess, noted that for 20 years the school had no lunch program and never had a breakfast
program. The proposal is for a pilot program. Ms. Hess said the school does not have the
facilities to cook food, and currently must look outside the District for supply and
support.

Commissioner Gilman suggested a CIP plan for the schools. Commissioner Mitchell
asked how staffing would be impacted. Ms. York said it should not impact staffing.
Commissioner Carmona supported it and praised the meals at the senior center.

Public Comment: Community Chest Director Erik Schoen expressed support for the
program. Storey County School Superintendent Todd Hess said this was a good example
of cooperation and mutual support between County organizations. He said he has a good
relationship with Sheriff Cullen and Chief Loncar and wants to continue developing
good relationships with other county government offices and departments.

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Storey County Senior Center to
enter contract with the Storey County School District to provide breakfast and lunch to
Hugh Gallagher Elementary School for the remainder of the 2022/23 calendar school
year. As part of this motion, I move to amend section 3.5.1 to eliminate the first date so
the contract becomes effective upon the signature of both parties and approval and
ending on June 30, 2023. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried
unanimously.

25. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Approve and authorize the County Manager
to sign a 12-month contract between Storey County and Lakota HRM, LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company to provide labor relations guidance and administration, interpret
and guide application of labor agreements and personnel policies; perform and oversee



‐ 11 ‐ 

administrative investigations; and ensure due process and discipline are administered in 
compliance with union agreements and personnel policies. The contract is for $75.00/hr. 
not to exceed 600 hours in a one-year period.  

County Manager Osborne said Jeanie Green of Lakota HRM, LLC, will answer to the 
Human Resources Director, and will provide consultation as there has been additional 
staff and new elected officials. She will work on labor relations cases and work with staff 
on labor issues. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to authorize the County Manager to sign a 12-
month contract between Storey County and Lakota HRM, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company to provide labor relations guidance and administration; interpret and guide 
application of labor agreements and personnel policies; perform and oversee 
administrative investigations; and ensure due process and discipline are administered in 
compliance with union agreements and personnel policies. The contract is for $75.00/hr. 
not to exceed 600 hours in a one-year period. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion 
carried unanimously. 

26. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: A possible augmentation to 001-117-
53014-000 Dues & Subscriptions for an additional $48,803.00 to include Year 2 of the
Motorola contract that was signed and approved on January 7, 2020, at the
Commissioners meeting and the adjustment of 001-117-64010-000 Capital Outlay of
$26,095.00 for the dispatch recorder that was approved on May 4, 2021, during the
Commissioners meeting and was paid for in July of 2022.

Communications Director Becky Parsons said the items were overlooked in the budget
review of 2022/23 and she wanted to get them into her budget for this year.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the augmentation to 001-117-
53014-000 Dues & Subscriptions for an additional $48,803.00 and the adjustment to 001-
117-64160-000 Capital Outlay of $26,095.00. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote:
Motion carried unanimously.

27. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Quarterly report by County Manager on
matters of the county including, but not limited to, plans and programs, strategic
planning, staffing and resources, capital improvements, community engagement, and
other matters of county importance.

County Manager Osborne said the abatement for Tesla is coming to an end next year and
staff is working with lobbyists to protect the funds and also working to allocate them for
county needs. The gigafactory expansion will be $3.5 billion, but we don’t know what
abatements might be given. Redwood Materials is going for an SB2 abatement for $1



‐ 12 ‐ 

billion investment with 75 percent abatement of property tax, 100 percent of sales tax. 
The special funds for VCTC, infrastructure and rail fund, quarter cent sales taxes, would 
not be abated. He said negotiations were continuing with GOED and Redwood for roads 
and fire equipment and buildings. 

He said the fiscal report is posted at the County Manager’s website. It covers the fiscal 
outputs TRIC is providing to Washoe County, as well as Capital Improvement Projects 
and fiscal responsibilities of Storey County. 

He said Linda Ritter is still working on the strategic plan and will do one more 
community outreach on it. In the Capital Improvement Plan, she is working with 
department heads and Comptroller McCain.  

In the area of human resources/personnel, he said we have hired a Human Resources 
Director, Emergency Management Director, and an administrative assistant split between 
the county manager and comptroller’s office. The VCTC chose a director who was being 
vetted by Human Resources. In Public Works, we are working to come up with 
incentives to stop people leaving to go to other jurisdictions. Same for Sheriff’s Office 
staffing. We will go to bid to have someone rewrite the administrative policies and non-
HR policies, and will bring it to the board. 

Public Comment: None 

28. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Storey County's Plan of Corrective Action in response to the Schedule of Findings and
Responses on pages 101-102 of the Storey County Financial Audit fiscal year ending
June 30, 2022.

Comptroller McCain said this item covers something done annually after the audit is
approved acknowledging the findings and define how issues will be rectified. The
corrective action includes additional training and work with Tyler Technologies to better
conform with GASB 87.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, approve Storey County's Plan of Correction Action in
response to the Schedule of Findings and Responses on pages 101-102 of the Storey
County Financial Audit fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. Seconded by: Lance Gilman.
Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

29. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
FY2024-2029 Storey County Capital Improvement Plan following the Board’s public
workshop on 01/17/23.

County Manager Osborne said he didn’t have anything new since the last workshop.
Looking at how many contractors would be needed to manage grants, contracts and



‐ 13 ‐ 

projects. The costs would be over 5 years. Mr. Osborne and Commissioner Carmona 
praised the staff for their input. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: In accordance with the recommendation by county staff, and comments received 
at the 01/17/23 non-action public workshop, I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve 
the presented FY2024-2029 Storey County Capital Improvement Plan. Seconded by 
Vote: Motion passes unanimously. 

30. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY WATER AND SEWER
BOARD

31. DISCUSSION ONLY: Second quarter financial review; overall the Water and Sewer
Funds are trending at or near the expected 50% usage for the end of the 2nd quarter in the
current fiscal year.

Comptroller McCain said the Water and Sewer Funds were trending at about 50% half-
way through the fiscal year. The rate increase set several years ago is catching up with
operational supplies and the funds are being monitored closely.

Public Comment: None

31. ADJOURN TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

32. DISCUSSION ONLY: Second quarter financial review; as of the end of the 2nd quarter,
Dec 31, 2022,

Comptroller McCain opened by stating, I am happy to report I don’t have much to say.
Revenues and expenses are trending as planned and the bottom lines are looking good.
Line-item overages can be explained, and while some revenue items lag behind, overall
revenues look good and the General Fund is at 80%. Spending by staff has been
conservative. The Sheriff’s Office is overbudget on travel due to training deputies.
Community Development refunds for permits is up. Communications will be augmented
for things that were missed. IT was over budget due to moving into SWITCH. New
positions have burdened the Commissioner’s budget. There is money in other areas to
accommodate these deviations. TRIC Payback Fund will come in overbudget and will
have to be augmented. The excess in the Indigent Accident line item is related to an over
budget revenue.

Public Comment: None

34. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: For consideration and possible approval of
business license second readings:

A. DOWL, LLC – Professional / 5526 Longley Lane ~ Reno, NV



‐ 14 ‐ 

B. Spectrum Services – Contractor / 4850 West Oquendo ~ Las Vegas, NV\

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the business license second 
readings under item 34 noted as A and B. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion 
carried unanimously. 

35. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action): Richard Bacus expressed concerns on a down
payment on county retirement medical insurance, as well as life insurance for his late
wife, Doreen

36. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE
AGENDA. Meeting was adjourned at 12:47 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 21, 2023
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See Attached

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      5



- 1 -

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS MEETING        

2/21/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

__________________________________________________________________ 

MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLERK & TREASURER 
__________________________________________________________________ 
Roll Call: Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 
Commissioner Lance Gilman, County Manager Austin Osborne, Deputy District Attorney Keith 
Loomis, Sheriff Mike Cullen, Recorder Dru McPherson, Comptroller Jennifer McCain, IT 
Director James Deane, Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar, Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki, 
Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan, Communications Director Becky Parsons, 
Business Development Manager Lara Mather, Community Relations Director Honey Menefee, 
Community Development Director Pete Renaud, Senior Center Director Stacy York  
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING AT 10:00 AM
Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:05

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
Agenda for the Feb. 21, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

County Manager Osborne asked that items 19-20 be continued to the March 7 meeting.



- 2 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Feb. 7, 2023, agenda with noted 
change of moving item 20 to the March 7 meeting and elimination of item 19. Seconded by: 
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
Minutes from the January 17, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Jan. 17, 2023, minutes as presented.
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

5. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION:
I For possible action, approval of business license first readings:

A. Murray Company – Contractor / 18414 S. Santa Fe Ave. ~ Rancho
Dominguez, CA

B. Nate’s Concrete Service – Contractor / 121 W. Bell St. ~Winnemucca, NV
C. Northstar Electric Inc.-Contractor/4640 S. Decatur Blvd. ~ Las Vegas, NV
D. Powur PBC – Contractor / 2683 Via De La Valle Ste. 321G ~ Del Mar, CA
E. Reno Solar – Contractor / 240 S. Rock Blvd. Ste 101 ~ Reno, NV
F. Timberline Pools and Spas Inc. – Contractor / 1521 La Mirada St. ~

Carson City, NV

II Approval of claims in the amount of $644,986.53. 

III Justice Court Quarterly Report. 

IV Tax Bill Correction MH002157 due to storage Mobile Home being removed from 
property without Assessor Office knowledge. 

V Tax Bill correction for A-Z Truck Marine and RV account CM001281 $25.97. 

VI Tax Bill correction for Jacobson Warehouse CM001483 $21.50. This business closed in 
January of 2018. 

VII Tax Bill correction for Wabasha Leasing LLC CM000284 $4,280.71. This was a 
duplicate billing. 

VIII Tax Bill correction for Performance Plumbing CM001071 $30.50. Company sold 
property and moved out of County. 

IX Tax Bill correction for Laila Foods CM001461 $846.00 due to selling business and new 
owners’ responsibility. 



- 3 -

X Tax Bill correction for Jack Pollack/AR Investment MH002284 $99.66 due to removal of 
Mobile Home without the Assessor Office knowledge. 

XI Tax Bill correction for Fulcrum Biofuels Audit Account AD000058 $23,227.32 due to 
being rebilled on account AD000048. 

XII Tax Bill correction for Scratch Baking Queen CM000309 from $35.30 to $23.84. 

XIII Tax Bill correction for Timothy Kelley MH000162 $62.70 due to late filing of a 
personal exemption. 

XIV Consideration and possible approval of an amendment to title and language for the 
Storey County Administrative Policies and Procedures, No. 218, "Children, Pets and 
Visitors in the Workplace". Changes are required to remove language for Non-Service 
Animals, amend language for Service Animals and amend the Policy Title to "Children, 
Visitors, and Service Animals in the Workplace". 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

7. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

Jason Weirzbicki, Public Works
 We are getting ready for the next round of storms, after fixing water main issues and

sewer issues in Gold Hill.

Honey Menefee for Lara Mather, Business Development Officer 
 She, along with County Commissioner Clay Mitchell attended the National Association

of Counties meeting in Washington DC and met with staff for the Nevada delegation
regarding appropriations.

Mike Bullain, EMS Director 
 He is working on updating the Emergency Operations Plan, Evacuation Plan and Mass

Care Plan. He is working with Zone Haven to evacuate people through social media.



- 4 -

Assessor Jana Seddon  
 She is working on clearing the uncollectible and unsecured bills, such as those from

companies that disappeared during COVID.

James Deane, IT Director 
 He has completed upgrading all firewalls and data centers and is moving to Switch fiber

lines instead of AT&T to save 30 percent in costs.

Nora Stefu, Director of the Historic Fourth Ward School 
 Thanked the county that allowed the museum to install electric heaters and allow the

museum to extend its season. It is planned to open in April.
 On Dec. 27 there was damage to the roof that was patched by Reymann Brothers and a

structural engineer has been contracted to evaluate damage and create a structural report.
 Building renovation is going well.
 This season there will be an exhibit on 150 years of the Virginia City Water Company, a

Victorian Tea Party and other events, which are posted on the museum's web site.

Clerk-Treasurer Jim Hindle 
 Board of Equalization meets at 10 a.m. Feb. 22, and is available on Zoom.
 The fourth installment of property taxes is due March 6.
 The office is watching bills AB95, requiring candidates to submit petitions with a

minimum number of signatures, and SB162, which would require polling places in the
jail.

8. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)

Commissioner Mitchell reported that his talks at the NACO conference included lands bills,
zip codes, appropriations, and future projects.

Commissioner Carmona noted the passing of two Virginia City residents: Keith Barrow and
Stephanie Collins. Ms. Collins was the owner of the Silver Dollar Saloon.

9. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to submit
the United States Department of Agriculture grant application for the Virginia City Fire
Station 71 Rebuild  Project. The estimated project total is $6,000,000; the Federal grant award
is $3,750,000, with the county match estimated to be $2,250,000 and not to exceed
$2,255,000.

Ms. Menefee said this is part of the federal 2023 appropriations grant.

Public Comment: None



- 5 -

Motion:  I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the submittal of the United States 
Department of Agriculture grant application for the Virginia City Fire Station 71 Rebuild 
Project. The estimated project total is $6,000,000; the Federal grant award is $3,750,000, with 
the county match estimated to be $2,250,000 and not to exceed $2,255,000. Seconded by: 
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

10. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to
authorize county staff to pursue potential land acquisition to facilitate the construction of Fire
Station 71 in Virginia City.

Ms. Menefee said this was in case land north of the fire station could be obtained without
disrupting the fire service. She said an environmental review would have to be done. Fire
Chief Jeremy Loncar said the item would be brought back to the board before purchase.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve county staff to pursue potential land
acquisition to facilitate the construction of Fire Station 71 in Virginia City. Seconded by:
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

11. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTIION: Consideration and possible approval to
authorize county staff to proceed with a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process to select
an architectural firm and obtain an Environmental Report in compliance with the United
States Department of Agriculture requirements for the Virginia City Fire Station 71 Rebuild
funded in part by a Congressionally Directed Spending Grant.

Ms. Menefee said this is a notice of intent to solicit qualifications and is a part of required
documents.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve and authorize county staff to proceed
with a Request for Qualifications process to select an architectural firm and obtain an
environmental report in compliance with the United States Department of Agriculture
requirements for the Virginia City Fire Station 71 Rebuild funded in part by a
Congressionally Directed Spending Grant. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion
carried unanimously.

12. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to submit
the United States Department of Agriculture grant application for the Fairgrounds Upgrade
Project. The estimated project total is $820,000; the Federal grant award is $615,000, with
the county match estimated to be $205,000 and not to exceed $210,000.



- 6 -

Ms. Menefee said the grant has been given and the application is necessary to receive the 
funding.  
. 
Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the submittal of the United States 
Department of Agriculture grant application for the Fairgrounds Upgrade Project. The 
estimated project total is $820,000; the Federal grant award is $615,000, with the county 
match estimated to be $205,000 and not to exceed $210,000. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. 
Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

13. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to
authorize county staff to proceed with a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process to select
an architectural firm to obtain an Environmental Report and a Preliminary Architectural
Report in compliance with the requirements of the United States Department of Agriculture
to complete the application for the Virginia City Fairgrounds Upgrade Project.

Ms. Menefee said this is a notice of intent to solicit qualifications and is a part of required
documents.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to and authorize county staff to proceed with a
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process to select an architectural firm to obtain an
Environmental Report and a Preliminary Architectural Report in compliance with the
requirements of the United States Department of Agriculture to complete the application for
the Virginia City Fairgrounds Upgrade Project. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion
carried unanimously.

14. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to submit
the Transportation, Housing and Urban Development grant application for the Lockwood
Senior Center Project. The estimated project total is $5,000,000; the Federal grant award is
$2,500,000, with the county match estimated to be $2,500,000 and not to exceed $2,505,000.

Ms. Menefee said this is a notice of intent to solicit qualifications and is a part of required
documents.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I (commissioner), move to approve the submittal of the United States Department of
Agriculture grant application for the Lockwood Senior Center Project. The estimated project
total is $5,000,000; the Federal grant award is $2,500,000, with the county match estimated



- 7 -

to be $2,500,000 and not to exceed $2,505,000. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion 
carried unanimously. 

15. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT BOARD

16. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of a
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Storey County Fire Protection District
and Tesla to allow Tesla EMS personnel to provide advanced life support on the property of 1
Electric Avenue in McCarren, Nevada

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar said this MOU ensures that we align our practices with Tesla and
give them early intervention at their company, which is very large, and it allows for quicker
intervention.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, approve the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with
the Storey County Fire Protection District and Tesla EMS to allow for advanced life support
by Tesla staff at 1 Electric Avenue in TRIC, McCarren, Nevada and approve the Fire Chief to
sign. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

17. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY WATER AND SEWER
BOARD

18. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
proposal from Sierra Controls, LLC in an amount not to exceed $80,000. This project is
needed for the controls integration of the blowers, control valves, and reprogramming into
the SCADA system.

Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki said this project will give the county more control
over every process, better alerting and alarming before issues develop.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell move to approve the Public Works Director to sign the
proposal from Sierra Controls in an amount not to exceed $80,000.00 for controls integration
work at the water filtration plant. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried
unanimously.

21. ADJOURN TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS



- 8 -

22. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for Storey
County to enter into a contract with J-U-B Engineers, Inc., for development of a flood hazard
mitigation plan for Long Valley Creek. This contract is being funded with a grant from the
State of Nevada, Department of Emergency Management, with a 25% match by Storey
County.

Planning Manager Kathy Canfield said the county received a grant from the state for studies
along the creek. Staff recommends J-U-B engineering. She said Long Valley Creek is mapped
for the flood plain and safety concerns have been identified. She said this item would allow
for the creation of mitigation plans, and she was working with TRFMA, which did studies on
Long Valley Creek. She hoped the county could use their efforts for a grant match.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve entering into a contract with J-U-B
Engineering, Inc., for the development of a flood hazard mitigation plan for Long Valley
Creek. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

23. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible approval of master
task order agreement for professional services agreement. The need for the new agreement
exists because Farr/West Engineering has merged with and become part of DOWL. DOWL
will be the new contracting party. The agreement sets out the parameters to which subsequent
specific task orders for separate engineering projects will be subject.

County Manager Osborne said this item was needed because Farr/West Engineering had
merged with DOWL, but they are the same people providing services to the county.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Master Task Order Agreement for
Professional services with DOWL and authorize the County Manager to sign. Seconded by:
Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

24. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible action to approve
Walmart Settlement Participation form. By this form Storey County releases any claims it
may have in the ongoing opioid litigation proceedings against Walmart and its associated
entities. If the settlement agreement is approved by 85% of the claimants or more, then the
State of Nevada is expected to receive up to approximately $37,000,000.00. This amount will
be allocated in part to counties within the State of Nevada.

District Attorney Anne Langer introduced Mark Krueger, with the Attorney General’s
Bureau of Consumer Protection. Mr. Krueger said that this is a settlement the board approved
several years ago. He said the actual amount the state will receive is $32,231,057.17, and



- 9 -

Storey County will receive $22,869.80. This is an ongoing settlement that we have had and 
requires Exhibit K, the actual form needs to be approved and completed. Storey has received 
$221,645.75 to be used for abatement.  

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the Walmart Settlement Participation 
form and authorize the County Manager to sign. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion 
carried unanimously. 

25. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Possible acceptance of a proposal from Delta
Fire Systems to replace the fire sprinkler riser valve in the V&T Freight Depot in an
estimated amount of $8,700.00 to prevent false alarms due to pressure changes in the water
main.

Mike Northan, Operations and Projects Coordinator, said there had been several occurrences
of false alarms from pressure changes in the main, which could lead to pipes freezing, and
this replacement will prevent those occurrences.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I [county commissioner] move to accept the proposal from Delta Fire Systems to
replace the fire sprinkler riser valve in the V&T Freight Depot for an estimated amount of
$8,700.00. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

26. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Update, discussion, and provide direction to
county staff and lobbyists regarding upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County
including, but not limited to, the following, and other properly related matters: AB63 I80
Safety Corridors; SB81 Regional Orderly Growth; AB143 Lands Transfer Bill; AB47 OHV
Bill; SB92 Sidewalk Vendors; and any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other action of the
legislature causing post-SB1 tax abatement revenues from the existing Tesla Gigafactory to
be canceled, diverted away from Storey County, postponed, or extended, and other bills as
brought forth at the meeting.

County Manager Austin Osborne said the county staff was monitoring a number of bills,
including AB63, the I-80 safety corridor bill, which the City of Fernley and Washoe County
have asked to join. He said he was also monitoring AB47, an OHV bill, which provides for a
trail next to a highway. Commissioner Mitchell expressed support because the bill allows
local jurisdictions to establish trails. Mr. Osborne said AB143 is a lands transfer bill the
county is supporting.

Mr. Osborne said he was also monitoring SB81 and AB240, which would add cities and
legislatures as voting members to a group of counties that issue reports on regional planning.



- 10 -

He said this would create the foundation for a Regional Planning Commission or a Revenue 
Sharing Foundation, and nothing could be permitted in Storey County without it going 
through the regional process. Staff are trying to stop this from happening. Mr. Osborne said 
he was fine with cities and legislators attending these meetings, but not to be voting members 
and participate in the reports. Staff are opposing this with the help of consultants and the 
white paper. Commissioners Carmona, Gilman and Mitchell expressed opposition to this bill 
on the grounds of improper involvement of different levels of government and choke off 
economic development for the county. All decided to take a firm stance on the issue. Mr. 
Osborne said staff opposed SB81. 

Mr. Osborne said an SB92 involving sidewalk vendors could cause issues on the boardwalk 
and create problems the county spent years trying to mitigate. 

Mr. Osborne said that the county is watching any legislative BDR, bill, resolution or other 
action causing post-SB1 tax abatement revenues from the existing Tesla Gigafactory6 to be 
canceled, diverted away from Storey County, postponed or extended. 

Public Comment: Kris Thompson said the intent of these people and Skip Daley was to get 
part of the Tesla money.  

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct county staff and lobbyists to represent 
Storey County on the bills that we have discussed, and to proceed according to the summary 
that the county manager just gave. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried 
unanimously. 

27. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible consideration of the
board’s position and draft letter responding to the Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic
Development (GOED) requesting from Storey County a “Letter of Acknowledgement
regarding Tesla, Inc.’s application to the Governor’s Office of Economic Development for
Sales & Use Tax Abatement, Modified Business Tax Abatement, Real and Personal Property
Tax Abatement for their operations planned in Storey County.” The tax abatements are
subject to GOED approval per NRS 360.

County Manager Osborne said Tesla has requested abatements $3.5 billion investment. This
is in review at this point. This is separate from the abatement from 2014. Due to
nondisclosure the county has not been made aware of the request, and he had communicated
his objections to not including Storey County. The letter commissioners have would
acknowledge receipt of a letter showing the company is applying for abatements. On March
2 GOED will hold a hearing to decide the application. He said then the BOC will hear a
request to create an economic development diversification district, which would be the
second Gigafactory, a portion of the existing property. That would be an approval of
something actually happening, and then GOED would create a contract and a government
services agreement that Tesla would offset any costs the county would incur. This is not an



- 11 -

approval, just a letter that indicates acknowledgement of the second Gigafactory but indicates 
the need of Storey County to obtain the taxes from the first Gigafactory.  

Commissioner Gilman wanted to submit the letter and stay withing the process. 

Commissioner Mitchell recommended withholding the letter since there was no assurance 
from GOED that Storey County would be represented in any talks on abatements. He was 
unhappy the county has not been at the table so far. Mr. Mitchell suggested holding a 
meeting and then modifying the letter, but District Attorney Anne Langer said the letter had 
to be sent by Monday, Feb. 27.  The commissioners continued a long discussion, with Mr. 
Gilman, Ms. Langer, Mr. Osborne and Clerk & Treasurer Hindle supporting sending the 
letter by Feb. 21 in order for the County to be on record with its concerns at the upcoming 
meeting. Mr. Mitchell argued that the county deserved more consideration, he suggested 
waiting and he did not feel comfortable submitting the letter at this point. Commissioner 
Carmona suggested the letter be sent to meet the deadline, but that a special meeting be held 
to give guidance to Mr. Osborne to get our concerns out. Mr. Osborne said there were 
statements in the letter giving the county’s perspective. Mr. Mitchell had no problem with the 
letter, just the process. 

Mr. Gilman moved to approve the letter as written. Mr. Mitchell did not support the motion. 

The commissioners debated holding a special meeting prior to the letter being sent or 
discussing the matter with the county manager. Ms. Langer objected to private conversations 
due to open meeting laws. Commissioner Carmona didn’t think not sending the letter was a 
way of changing the process, but he did believe the process should be changed. The 
discussion then was to hold a special meeting on March 1. He suggested amending the 
verbiage in the letter with stronger language, seeking to be part of the process but getting it in 
on time. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the draft letter as recommended by 
county staff, with the amendments and changes summarized by County Manager Osborne 
during discussion, responding to a letter from the Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic 
Development requesting from Storey County a letter acknowledging Tesla Inc.’s application 
to the Governor’s Office of Economic Development for sales and use tax abatement modified 
business tax abatement, real and personal property tax abatement for their operations in 
Storey County. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

29. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of an
upgrade to the Courthouse Camera System in the amount not to exceed $40,000.00.



- 12 -

James Deane, IT director, said this was not a budget item as chips were not ready for this 
project. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the purchase of a Courthouse Camera 

System upgrade in the amount not to exceed $40,000.00. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. 
Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

28. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval
authorizing the county manager to approve and sign a one-year contract between Storey
County and RCG Economics for professional services related to potential legislation
financially and otherwise affecting Storey County including, but not limited to, potential
legislation affecting tax revenues, for a contract amount to be brought forth to the board
meeting.

County Manager Austin Osborne said this item was a contract to aid fiscal forecasting and
outputs analysis. This would take the white paper and the contractor would take that and go
deeper into it and respond and testify before the Legislature if needed. It is budgeted for
$100,000.00. He said the contract was amended to include workers compensation and
liability insurance. After discussion among Commissioner Mitchell, Ms. Langer and Mr.
Osborne, the amount was set at $52,500.00.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to authorize the county manager to approve and
sign a one-year contract between Storey County and RCG Economics for professional
services related to potential legislation financially and otherwise affecting Storey County
including, but not limited to, potential legislation affecting tax revenues, for a contract
amount of $52.500.00 to include the amendment listed as Section 5 in the contract detailing
workers compensation and general liability insurance, to include the amendment under
Section 3-I to clarify that the consultant has and maintains a Storey County business license.
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried unanimously.

30. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: For consideration and possible approval of
business license second readings:
A. England’s Elite Pest Service – Out of County / 659 Washoe Dr. ~ Washoe Valley, NV
B. Herca Telecomm Services Inc. – Contractor / 18610 Beck St. ~ Perris, CA
C. Kodiak Roofing & Waterproofing Co. – Contractor / 8825 Washington Blvd. ~ Roseville,

CA

Public Comment: None 



- 13 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell move to approve the second readings for business 
licenses listed as A through C. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion carried 
unanimously. 

31. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action):
 Lee Sterrett reminded the board and audience that they could comment on any legislation

by going to a comment page on the Legislature’s web site.

32. CORRESPONDENCE/NO ACTION:
Correspondence from Rick Lake regarding RFP for solid waste franchise agreement.

33. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA
Commissioner Carmona adjourned the meeting at 1:17 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For possible action, approval of business license first readings:
• A. Arcadia Solar LLC – Contractor / 4050 East Cotton Center Blvd. #30 ~ Phoenix, AZ
• B. BES Electric – Contractor / 621 Gyrfalcon Ct. Unit A. ~ Windsor, CO
• C. Capriati Construction Corporation – Contractor / 1020 Wigwam Parkway ~

Henderson, NV
• D. Clark & Sullivan Constructors, Inc. – Contractor / 905 Industrial Way ~ Sparks, NV
• E. Done Right Set Up and Service – Contractor / 1355 Farm District Rd. ~ Fernley, NV
• F. Gore Acoustics & Drywall Systems Inc. – Contractor / 4855 Joule St. B# ~ Reno, NV
• G. Hilow Services – Out of County / 3983 S. McCarran Blvd. ~ Reno, NV
• H. International Paper Molded Fiber LLC – General / 2555 Peru ~ McCarran, NV
• I. Jax Construction & Consulting LLC – Contractor / 17 Sharp Springs Ct. ~ Sparks, NV
• J. Jones Covey Group Inc. – Contractor / 9595 Lucas Ranch Rd. ~ R. Cucamonga, CA
• K. Layton Construction Company LLC – Contractor / 9090 S. Sandy Parkway ~ Sandy,

UT
• L. MRBRAZ & Associates, PLLC – Contractor / 2004 West Timberlake St. Ste 101 ~

Azle, TX
• M. Mule Fence Inc. – Contractor / 40 Hardy Dr. ~ Sparks, NV
• N. Qualus LLC – Professional / 100 Colonial Center Parkway Ste. 400 ~ Lake Mary, FL
• O. Sparks, NV LC – Out of County / 2730 Peralta St. ~ Oakland, CA

• Recommended motion: None required (if approved as part of the Consent Agenda) I
move to approve all first readings (if removed from consent agenda by request).

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 7757200668

• Staff Summary: First readings of submitted business license applications are normally
approved on the consent agenda. The applications are then submitted at the next
Commissioner's

• meeting for approval.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

    6 I



• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office March 27, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the April 04, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

FIRST READINGS: 

A. Arcadia Solar LLC – Contractor / 4050 East Cotton Center Blvd. #30 ~ Phoenix, AZ

B. BES Electric – Contractor / 621 Gyrfalcon Ct. Unit A. ~ Windsor, CO

C. Capriati Construction Corporation – Contractor / 1020 Wigwam Parkway ~ Henderson, NV

D. Clark & Sullivan Constructors, Inc. – Contractor / 905 Industrial Way ~ Sparks, NV

E. Done Right Set Up and Service – Contractor / 1355 Farm District Rd. ~ Fernley, NV

F. Gore Acoustics & Drywall Systems Inc. – Contractor / 4855 Joule St. B# ~ Reno, NV

G. Hilow Services – Out of County / 3983 S. McCarran Blvd. ~ Reno, NV

H. International Paper Molded Fiber LLC – General / 2555 Peru ~ McCarran, NV

I. Jax Construction & Consulting LLC – Contractor / 17 Sharp Springs Ct. ~ Sparks, NV

J. Jones Covey Group Inc. – Contractor / 9595 Lucas Ranch Rd. ~ R. Cucamonga, CA

K. Layton Construction Company LLC – Contractor / 9090 S. Sandy Parkway ~ Sandy, UT

L. MRBRAZ & Associates, PLLC – Contractor / 2004 West Timberlake St. Ste 101 ~ Azle, TX

M. Mule Fence Inc. – Contractor / 40 Hardy Dr. ~ Sparks, NV

N. Qualus LLC – Professional / 100 Colonial Center Parkway Ste. 400 ~ Lake Mary, FL

O. Sparks, NV LC – Out of County / 2730 Peralta St. ~ Oakland, CA

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Approval of claims in the amount of $2,790,185.09.

• Recommended motion: Approval of claims as submitted.

• Prepared by: Cory Y Wood

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Please find attached claims.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    6 II









































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Removal of uncollectable delinquent Business Personal Property tax bills.  Total
amount of bills to be deleted including penalties and interest $125,430.25.

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Jana Seddon

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0961

• Staff Summary: These companies are no longer located in Storey County, therefore
there is no property to seize for back taxes.  Per ADA Keith Loomis, based on NRS
11.190(3)(a), any delinquent taxes over 3 years are uncollectable and A.G. Opn. 1979-17
delinquent taxes under $1000 are recoverable by suit.  The attached list of accounts and
requested bills to delete fall within the guidelines presented by ADA Loomis.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   6 III







Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min.

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Remove of tax bills for demolished Mobile Home.  MH000169 totaling $310.40.

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Jana Seddon

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0961

• Staff Summary: The mobile home belonging to Mr. Farlley was condemned and
subsequently demolished by Lockwood Community Corp. after Mr. Farlley was
incarcerated. There is no mobile home to seize, and Mr. Farlley's current whereabouts are
unknown. Therefore these taxes are uncollectable.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   6 IV







Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min.

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Removal of tax bills for MH001154 TE Bertagnolli & Associates 2009-2023.
$1255.48 mobile home destroyed.

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Jana Seddon

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0961

• Staff Summary: This mobile home is one of many that were located behind the Old
Bridge Ranch. We were under the impression this mobile home was a different one that
was still on the property. We were recently contacted be the actual owner of that mobile
home when it was removed. After research we found this mobile was destroyed in 2015.
See attached photos.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   6 V









Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Public Hearing on proposed Resolutions 23-671 and 23-675 as described:
RESOLUTION 23-671, proposes the identification of a road commonly known as
County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment
1), American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), Unnamed Road (Segment 3),
pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The
road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey
County on both private and public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management,
however only the roadway on public land is proposed for identification.  The road
commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-
331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads north and then northeast to conclude
at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 002-283-01.    The effect of identifying the
road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but
not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk.

• RESOLUTION 23-675, proposes the identification of a road identified as Unnamed,
County Road Number 910045 pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191
as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the American Flat
neighborhood of Storey County on public land managed by the Bureau of Land
Management.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within
Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads south to
the Storey County/Lyon County boundary.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor
county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but not maintained
by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to close the public hearing on the
proposed Resolutions 23-671 and 23-675.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.1144

• Staff Summary: A public hearing is required to consider public input on proposed
Resolutions 23-671 and Resolution 23-675 to consider establishing minor county roads
identified as County Road Numbers 910040 and 910045, as minor county roads per
Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.

      11



• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: April 4, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-671, proposes the identification of a road commonly known 
as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), Yellowjacket Road/American 
Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), Unnamed 
Road (Segment 3), pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 
as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the 
American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on both private and public land 
managed by the Bureau of Land Management, however only the roadway on 
public land is proposed for identification.  The road commences within 
Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an 
approximate spring crossing then heads north and then northeast to conclude 
at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 002-283-01.    The effect of 
identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, 
available for public use but that it is not maintained by Storey County.  It must 
be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 
use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

The applicable NRS sections identified in this report are attached as exhibits to this staff report. 

Yellowjacket Road/American Flat, American Flat/American Flat Lower, Unnamed Road 

This continuous roadway has been broken down into three segments based on roadway names identified 
for each of the segments.  The roadway begins at an approximate spring crossing on APN 004-331-06 (T16N, 
R21E of Section 6) then heads north and northeast to conclude at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 
002-283-01.  The entire length of this roadway is approximately 1.75 miles.  The roadway is southwest of
Gold Hill in the American Flat area of Storey County.  The majority of this road is located on public land, with
a portion on private land owned by a mining company.  Although there may be research to indicate the
entirety of the roadway meets the definition of NRS 405.191, this recognition and resolution is only
addressing the portion of roadway on public land.

Attached to this staff report is a map of the Federally owned land within Storey County, a map of the 
Yellowjacket/American Flat roadway segments, a legal description of the segments and photographs of the 
roadway.  A Resolution establishing the segments of roadway on public land as a minor public road is also 
attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the proposed Resolution. 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
671, proposes the identification of a road commonly known as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


3 

Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), Unnamed 
Road (Segment 3), pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The 
road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on both private 
and public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, however only the roadway on public land is 
proposed for identification.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 
within APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads north and then northeast to 
conclude at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 002-283-01.    The effect of identifying the road as a 
minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not maintained by 
Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 



RESOLUTION 23-671 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910040 (3 SEGMENTS), YELLOWJACKET RD/AMERICAN FLAT 
(SEGMENT 1), AMERICAN FLAT/AMERICAN FLAT LOWER (SEGMENT 2), UNNAMED RD 
(SEGMENT 3), PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on April 4, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as 

Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road 

width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment 

length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet; and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road 

segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet as a minor county road; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 



910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment 

length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American 

Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width 

approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road segment length 2,238 feet, road width 

approximately (14) feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, has been: (a) established 

by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior to the October 21, 1976 repeal of 

R.S. 2477; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 Segments), 

commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 4,982 feet long 

(0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 

2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd 

(Segment 3), road segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet as more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies only to the segments of the road that traverse land 

managed by the Bureau of Land Management, United States Department of the Interior, and does not 

apply to segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the minor Storey County Road 

Number 910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), 

road segment length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and 

American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road 

width approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road segment length 2,238 feet, 

road width approximately (14) feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be 

represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating county 

minor road Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as 

Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road 

width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment 

length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road 

segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners, the 

Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 

Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 

4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat 



Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  

and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3) road segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no 

maintenance is required on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance 

schedule by the Storey County Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be 

necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, 

common name or any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public 

Works Department may be placed on the county minor road Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 

Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 

4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat 

Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  

and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3) road segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet 

as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 

This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 



Clerk of the Board 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Yellowjacket Rd/ American Flat 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910040 

Segment 1 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.270238 N, -119.680198 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 20 East, Within Section 12
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.279329 N, -119.672148 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):4,982’ (0.94
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation areas, or any combination thereof. 

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity.” 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: American Flat/American Flat Lower 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910040 

Segment 2 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.279329 N, -119.672148 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.281906 N, -119.666397 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):2,041’ (0.39
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

twenty eight (28) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation areas, or any combination thereof. 

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity.” 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Rd 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910040 

Segment 3 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.281906 N, -119.666397 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.280215 N, -119.664182 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):2,238’ (0.42
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR
 342

Virginia City 1994 
39119-C6

16N 21E

16N 20E

06

07

05

12
08

01

910040

91
01

45

91004 5

910055
910030

910065

910185

91
00

95

91
00

70

911120 

91
01

15

961111

910185

910040  American Flat/American Flat Lower

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.60.2
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



















16N 21E

16N 20E

17N 21E

33/7/1922
9756

43/7/1922
9756

210/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLM

1510/21/1976
BLMSESW3/7/1922

9972

310/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLMSENE10/21/1976

BLM

NENE10/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

123/7/1922
9972

410/21/1976
BLM

910/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

410/21/1976
BLM

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

SWNE10/21/1976
BLM

13/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

23/15/1875
Central Pacific RR210/21/1976

BLM

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

1110/21/1976
BLM

NENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESW10/21/1976
BLM

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

NESW10/21/1976
BLM

NENW10/21/1976
BLM

2610/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

1410/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

1210/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

SENW10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

73/7/1922
9972

1210/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

510/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

NESE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

2410/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

73/7/1922
9972

2310/21/1976
BLM

SWNW10/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

123/7/1922
9972

410/21/1976
BLM

NESW10/21/1976
BLM

3110/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

2510/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

1810/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SWNE10/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

GLO Survey 1866

GLO Survey 1875

GLO Survey 1867

06

07

05

12

01

08

31
3236

910040  American Flat/American Flat Lower

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.60.2
Miles

Date: 9/15/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



16N 21E

16N 20E

Virginia City 1952
N3915-W11930/15AMS 2062 I-SERIES V796

1510/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

SESW3/7/1922
9972

510/21/1976
BLMSENE10/21/1976

BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

NENE10/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

123/7/1922
9972

33/7/1922
9756

43/7/1922
9756

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

910/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

1510/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

SWNE10/21/1976
BLM

33/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

13/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

23/15/1875
Central Pacific RR210/21/1976

BLM

NESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

NENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

2610/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

1410/21/1976
BLM

NESE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

610/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

73/7/1922
9972

43/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

1310/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

510/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

3310/21/1976
BLM

810/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

2410/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

73/7/1922
9972

2310/21/1976
BLM 1810/21/1976

BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

SWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

210/21/1976
BLM

123/7/1922
9972

3210/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

1810/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

2510/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM 06

07

05

08

12

01910040  American Flat/American Flat Lowe

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.60.2
Miles

Date: 9/15/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



Road Collections that don’t overlay the track on the Proof Map 

It frequently happens that the course of a road is altered by a washout, foreign obstacle (such 
as a fallen tree or rock , severe rutting or erosion. In cases like this, via the concept of )
‘maintenance by use’, a go around from the original provable course is established. This is 
generally a short detour. 

Occasionally, a road will start in the same close proximity, perhaps follow the provable track for 
a distance, and then divert substantially from the provable course. And then end up at the 
same approximate location served by the provable road. 

In cases like this the provable track is no longer in use. But again the concept of ‘maintenance 
by use’ clearly evidences that the new track is not a new road. It is in effect the same road 
merely located via a more passable track serving the same destination. 

These roads have been processed in the same manner as all other RS2477 qualifying roads. The 
only recognizable distinction is that the proof map clearly shows that there is no pre 1976 track 
underlying the collection. But it does show the starting and ending locations evidencing that it 
does serve the destination of the now unused original track.  

This document is included in the Road Folders of these roads. There is also a comprehensive list 
of such roads by Road # maintained in the Project file. 



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: April 4, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-675, proposes the identification of a road identified as 
Unnamed, County Road Number 910045 pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 
403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is located southwest 
of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on public land 
managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The road commences within 
Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an 
approximate spring crossing then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon 
County boundary.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is 
to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not 
maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

The applicable NRS sections identified in this report are attached as exhibits to this staff report. 

Unnamed Road, Number 910045 

This roadway continues from Roadway 910040, beginning  at an approximate spring crossing on APN 004-
331-06 (T16N, R21E of Section 6) then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon County boundary.  The entire
length of this roadway is approximately 0.8 miles.  The roadway is southwest of Gold Hill in the American
Flat area of Storey County.  The road is entirely on public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.

Attached to this staff report is a map of the Federally owned land within Storey County, a map of the 
Unnamed Road 910045, a legal description of the segment and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution 
establishing the roadway on public land as a minor public road is also attached for consideration for 
adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the proposed Resolution. 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
675, proposes the identification of a road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910045 pursuant 
to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of 
Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on public land managed by the Bureau of 
Land Management.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within 
APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon County 
boundary.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, 
available for public use but that it is not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at 
their own risk. 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


RESOLUTION 23-675 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
UNNAMED, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910045, PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED 
STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on April 4, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way commonly known as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 

feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 feet as a minor county road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor county road commonly known as  

as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road 

width approximately 20 feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, has been: (a) 

established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior to the October 21, 1976 

repeal of R.S. 2477; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that the county minor road known as Unnamed; Storey 

County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 

feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies only to the segments of the road that 

traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, United States Department of the Interior, 

and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity; 

and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the minor county road known 

as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road 

width approximately 20 feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be 

represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating county 

minor road commonly known as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 

feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 

1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners, the Nevada 

Department of Transportation, and the County Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the county minor road known as Unnamed; 

Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road width 

approximately 20 feet and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no 

maintenance is required on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance 

schedule by the Storey County Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be 

necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, 

common name or any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public 

Works Department may be placed on the county minor road commonly known as Unnamed; Storey 

County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 

feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 



This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910045 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.270238 N, -119.680198 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 20 East, Within Section 12
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.259373 N, -119.678326 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 20 East, Within Section 12 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):4,227’ (0.8 Miles)
Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

twenty (20) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation areas, or any combination thereof. 

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity.” 



Virginia City 1994 
39119-C6

16N 20E

16N 21E

12

07

13

 01 06

910 04 5

910030

910055

910
06

5

911005

91
00

40

910070

910045  U
nnam

ed R
oad

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 









16N 20E

16N 21E

Virginia City 1952
N3915-W11930/15AMS 2062 I-SERIES V796

510/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

33/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

23/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESW10/21/1976
BLM

SENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESE10/21/1976
BLM

NESW10/21/1976
BLM

SENW10/21/1976
BLM

13/15/1875
Central Pacific RR NENW3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

43/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

NENW10/21/1976
BLM

NENW10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

210/21/1976
BLM

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SWNW10/21/1976
BLM

SWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

12
07

13

910045  U
nnam

ed R
oad

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.25 0.5 0.75 10.125
Miles

Date: 9/15/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-671 which proposes the
identification of a road commonly known as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments),
Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American Flat Lower
(Segment 2), Unnamed Road (Segment 3), pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170
AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the
American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on both private and public land managed
by the Bureau of Land Management, however only the roadway on public land is
proposed for identification.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East,
within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads
north and then northeast to conclude at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 002-283-
01. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public
road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by
motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to adopt Resolution 23-671 which
proposes the identification of a road commonly known as County Road Number 910040
(3 segments), Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American
Flat Lower (Segment 2), Unnamed Road (Segment 3), pursuant to Nevada revised
statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of
Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on both private and public
land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, however only the roadway on public
land is proposed for identification.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range
21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then
heads north and then northeast to conclude at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN
002-283-01. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a
public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must be
used by motorists at their own risk.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.1144

• Staff Summary: Following a public hearing on proposed Resolution 23-671, this request
is to adopt Resolution 23-671 to establish the road identified as County Road Number
910040, as a minor county public road per Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and

     12



405.191. 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: April 4, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-671, proposes the identification of a road commonly known 
as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), Yellowjacket Road/American 
Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), Unnamed 
Road (Segment 3), pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 
as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the 
American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on both private and public land 
managed by the Bureau of Land Management, however only the roadway on 
public land is proposed for identification.  The road commences within 
Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an 
approximate spring crossing then heads north and then northeast to conclude 
at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 002-283-01.    The effect of 
identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, 
available for public use but that it is not maintained by Storey County.  It must 
be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 
use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

The applicable NRS sections identified in this report are attached as exhibits to this staff report. 

Yellowjacket Road/American Flat, American Flat/American Flat Lower, Unnamed Road 

This continuous roadway has been broken down into three segments based on roadway names identified 
for each of the segments.  The roadway begins at an approximate spring crossing on APN 004-331-06 (T16N, 
R21E of Section 6) then heads north and northeast to conclude at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 
002-283-01.  The entire length of this roadway is approximately 1.75 miles.  The roadway is southwest of
Gold Hill in the American Flat area of Storey County.  The majority of this road is located on public land, with
a portion on private land owned by a mining company.  Although there may be research to indicate the
entirety of the roadway meets the definition of NRS 405.191, this recognition and resolution is only
addressing the portion of roadway on public land.

Attached to this staff report is a map of the Federally owned land within Storey County, a map of the 
Yellowjacket/American Flat roadway segments, a legal description of the segments and photographs of the 
roadway.  A Resolution establishing the segments of roadway on public land as a minor public road is also 
attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the proposed Resolution. 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
671, proposes the identification of a road commonly known as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


3 

Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), Unnamed 
Road (Segment 3), pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The 
road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on both private 
and public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, however only the roadway on public land is 
proposed for identification.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 
within APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads north and then northeast to 
conclude at the historic Catholic Cemetery on APN 002-283-01.    The effect of identifying the road as a 
minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not maintained by 
Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 



RESOLUTION 23-671 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910040 (3 SEGMENTS), YELLOWJACKET RD/AMERICAN FLAT 
(SEGMENT 1), AMERICAN FLAT/AMERICAN FLAT LOWER (SEGMENT 2), UNNAMED RD 
(SEGMENT 3), PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on April 4, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as 

Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road 

width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment 

length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet; and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road 

segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet as a minor county road; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 



910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment 

length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American 

Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width 

approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road segment length 2,238 feet, road width 

approximately (14) feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, has been: (a) established 

by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior to the October 21, 1976 repeal of 

R.S. 2477; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 Segments), 

commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 4,982 feet long 

(0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 

2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd 

(Segment 3), road segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet as more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies only to the segments of the road that traverse land 

managed by the Bureau of Land Management, United States Department of the Interior, and does not 

apply to segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the minor Storey County Road 

Number 910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), 

road segment length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and 

American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road 

width approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road segment length 2,238 feet, 

road width approximately (14) feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be 

represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating county 

minor road Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 Segments), commonly known as 

Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road 

width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat Lower (Segment 2), road segment 

length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3), road 

segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners, the 

Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 

Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 

4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat 



Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  

and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3) road segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no 

maintenance is required on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance 

schedule by the Storey County Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be 

necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, 

common name or any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public 

Works Department may be placed on the county minor road Storey County Road Number 910040 (3 

Segments), commonly known as Yellowjacket/American Flat (Segment 1), road segment length 

4,982 feet long (0.94 miles), road width approximately (14) feet; and American Flat/American Flat 

Lower (Segment 2), road segment length 2,041 (0.39 miles), road width approximately (28) feet;  

and Unnamed Rd (Segment 3) road segment length 2,238 feet, road width approximately (14) feet 

as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 

This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 



Clerk of the Board 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Yellowjacket Rd/ American Flat 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910040 

Segment 1 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.270238 N, -119.680198 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 20 East, Within Section 12
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.279329 N, -119.672148 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):4,982’ (0.94
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation areas, or any combination thereof. 

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity.” 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: American Flat/American Flat Lower 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910040 

Segment 2 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.279329 N, -119.672148 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.281906 N, -119.666397 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):2,041’ (0.39
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

twenty eight (28) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation areas, or any combination thereof. 

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity.” 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Rd 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910040 

Segment 3 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.281906 N, -119.666397 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.280215 N, -119.664182 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 6  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):2,238’ (0.42
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR
 342

Virginia City 1994 
39119-C6

16N 21E

16N 20E

06

07

05

12
08

01

910040

91
01

45

91004 5

910055
910030

910065

910185

91
00

95

91
00

70

911120 

91
01

15

961111

910185

910040  American Flat/American Flat Lower

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.60.2
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



















16N 21E

16N 20E

17N 21E

33/7/1922
9756

43/7/1922
9756

210/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLM

1510/21/1976
BLMSESW3/7/1922

9972

310/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLMSENE10/21/1976

BLM

NENE10/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

123/7/1922
9972

410/21/1976
BLM

910/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

410/21/1976
BLM

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

SWNE10/21/1976
BLM

13/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

23/15/1875
Central Pacific RR210/21/1976

BLM

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

1110/21/1976
BLM

NENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESW10/21/1976
BLM

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

NESW10/21/1976
BLM

NENW10/21/1976
BLM

2610/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

1410/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

1210/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

SENW10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

73/7/1922
9972

1210/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

510/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

NESE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

2410/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

73/7/1922
9972

2310/21/1976
BLM

SWNW10/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

123/7/1922
9972

410/21/1976
BLM

NESW10/21/1976
BLM

3110/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

2510/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

1810/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SWNE10/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

GLO Survey 1866

GLO Survey 1875

GLO Survey 1867

06

07

05

12

01

08

31
3236

910040  American Flat/American Flat Lower

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.60.2
Miles

Date: 9/15/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



16N 21E

16N 20E

Virginia City 1952
N3915-W11930/15AMS 2062 I-SERIES V796

1510/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

SESW3/7/1922
9972

510/21/1976
BLMSENE10/21/1976

BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

NENE10/21/1976
BLM

610/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

123/7/1922
9972

33/7/1922
9756

43/7/1922
9756

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

910/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

1510/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

SWNE10/21/1976
BLM

33/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

13/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

23/15/1875
Central Pacific RR210/21/1976

BLM

NESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

NENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

2610/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

1410/21/1976
BLM

NESE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

610/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

73/7/1922
9972

43/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

1310/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

NWSE10/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

510/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

3310/21/1976
BLM

810/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

2410/21/1976
BLM

510/21/1976
BLM

1310/21/1976
BLM

83/7/1922
9756

73/7/1922
9972

2310/21/1976
BLM 1810/21/1976

BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

1010/21/1976
BLM

53/7/1922
9756

SWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

210/21/1976
BLM

123/7/1922
9972

3210/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

63/7/1922
9756

1810/21/1976
BLM

710/21/1976
BLM

2510/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

210/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM 06

07

05

08

12

01910040  American Flat/American Flat Lowe

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.60.2
Miles

Date: 9/15/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



Road Collections that don’t overlay the track on the Proof Map 

It frequently happens that the course of a road is altered by a washout, foreign obstacle (such 
as a fallen tree or rock , severe rutting or erosion. In cases like this, via the concept of )
‘maintenance by use’, a go around from the original provable course is established. This is 
generally a short detour. 

Occasionally, a road will start in the same close proximity, perhaps follow the provable track for 
a distance, and then divert substantially from the provable course. And then end up at the 
same approximate location served by the provable road. 

In cases like this the provable track is no longer in use. But again the concept of ‘maintenance 
by use’ clearly evidences that the new track is not a new road. It is in effect the same road 
merely located via a more passable track serving the same destination. 

These roads have been processed in the same manner as all other RS2477 qualifying roads. The 
only recognizable distinction is that the proof map clearly shows that there is no pre 1976 track 
underlying the collection. But it does show the starting and ending locations evidencing that it 
does serve the destination of the now unused original track.  

This document is included in the Road Folders of these roads. There is also a comprehensive list 
of such roads by Road # maintained in the Project file. 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-675, which proposes the
identification of a road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910045 pursuant to
Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is
located southwest of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on
public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The road commences within
Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an
approximate spring crossing then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon County
boundary. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a
public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County. It must be
used by motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to adopt Resolution 23-675, which
proposes the identification of a road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number
910045 pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county
road. The road is located southwest of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of
Storey County on public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The road
commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-
331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon
County boundary. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify
it as a public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must
be used by motorists at their own risk.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.1144

• Staff Summary: Following a public hearing on proposed Resolution 23-675, this request
is to adopt Resolution 23-675 to establish the road identified as County Road Number
910045, as a minor county public road per Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and
405.191.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

     13



• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: April 4, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-675, proposes the identification of a road identified as 
Unnamed, County Road Number 910045 pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 
403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is located southwest 
of Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on public land 
managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The road commences within 
Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within APN 004-331-06 at an 
approximate spring crossing then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon 
County boundary.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is 
to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not 
maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

The applicable NRS sections identified in this report are attached as exhibits to this staff report. 

Unnamed Road, Number 910045 

This roadway continues from Roadway 910040, beginning  at an approximate spring crossing on APN 004-
331-06 (T16N, R21E of Section 6) then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon County boundary.  The entire
length of this roadway is approximately 0.8 miles.  The roadway is southwest of Gold Hill in the American
Flat area of Storey County.  The road is entirely on public land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.

Attached to this staff report is a map of the Federally owned land within Storey County, a map of the 
Unnamed Road 910045, a legal description of the segment and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution 
establishing the roadway on public land as a minor public road is also attached for consideration for 
adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the proposed Resolution. 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
675, proposes the identification of a road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910045 pursuant 
to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county road. The road is located southwest of 
Gold Hill in the American Flat neighborhood of Storey County on public land managed by the Bureau of 
Land Management.  The road commences within Township 16 N, Range 21 East, within Section 6 within 
APN 004-331-06 at an approximate spring crossing then heads south to the Storey County/Lyon County 
boundary.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, 
available for public use but that it is not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at 
their own risk. 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


RESOLUTION 23-675 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
UNNAMED, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910045, PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED 
STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on April 4, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way commonly known as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 

feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 feet as a minor county road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor county road commonly known as  

as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road 

width approximately 20 feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, has been: (a) 

established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior to the October 21, 1976 

repeal of R.S. 2477; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that the county minor road known as Unnamed; Storey 

County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 

feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies only to the segments of the road that 

traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, United States Department of the Interior, 

and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity; 

and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the minor county road known 

as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road 

width approximately 20 feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be 

represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating county 

minor road commonly known as Unnamed; Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 

feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 

1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners, the Nevada 

Department of Transportation, and the County Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the county minor road known as Unnamed; 

Storey County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road width 

approximately 20 feet and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no 

maintenance is required on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance 

schedule by the Storey County Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be 

necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, 

common name or any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public 

Works Department may be placed on the county minor road commonly known as Unnamed; Storey 

County Road Number 910045; road length 4,227 feet long (0.8 miles); road width approximately 20 

feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 



This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910045 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.270238 N, -119.680198 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 20 East, Within Section 12
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.259373 N, -119.678326 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 16 N, Range 20 East, Within Section 12 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):4,227’ (0.8 Miles)
Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

twenty (20) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation areas, or any combination thereof. 

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned by any other person or entity.” 



Virginia City 1994 
39119-C6

16N 20E

16N 21E

12

07

13

 01 06

910 04 5

910030

910055

910
06

5

911005

91
00

40

910070

910045  U
nnam

ed R
oad

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 









16N 20E

16N 21E

Virginia City 1952
N3915-W11930/15AMS 2062 I-SERIES V796

510/21/1976
BLM

410/21/1976
BLM

310/21/1976
BLM

33/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

23/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWSE10/21/1976
BLM

NESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESW10/21/1976
BLM

SENW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESE10/21/1976
BLM

NESW10/21/1976
BLM

SENW10/21/1976
BLM

13/15/1875
Central Pacific RR NENW3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

43/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

NENW10/21/1976
BLM

NENW10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SESW3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

210/21/1976
BLM

NWNE10/21/1976
BLM

110/21/1976
BLM

SWNW10/21/1976
BLM

SWSE3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

12
07

13

910045  U
nnam

ed R
oad

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.25 0.5 0.75 10.125
Miles

Date: 9/15/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Report of public works department regarding roads and highways in Storey
County.

• Recommended motion: No action needed.

• Prepared by: Jason Wierzbicki

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0958

• Staff Summary: Monthly update on road conditions and matters.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     14



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 20 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Brian Mitchell, Director of the Governor’s Office of Science, Innovation and
Technology (OSIT), is here to present the broadband infrastructure and digital equity
planning process taking place throughout the state of Nevada.

• Recommended motion: Discussion Only

• Prepared by: Honey Menefee

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470986

• Staff Summary: Brian Mitchell, who is leading the OSIT Broadband and Digital Equity
Team, will be speaking about the three phases of broadband infrastructure
implementation and survey tools that have been developed. Today from 11-1 his team
will be at the Virginia City Sr. Center and from 2:30 - 4:30 at the Lockwood Sr. Center to
be able to answer any questions that residents may have regarding the upcoming
broadband initiatives.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     16



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Presentation by the Virginia City Silver Circuits robotics team including a robotics
demonstration and discussion about their curriculum and achievements.

• Recommended motion: No action.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Presentation per the request of the Virginia City Silver Circuits robotics
program. 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      17



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Update, discussion, and provide direction to the Fire Chief and appropriate Fire
District Staff along with professional services, regarding upcoming bills and legislation
affecting Storey County Fire Protection District including, but not limited to the
following, and other properly related matters: AB63 I80 Safety Corridors; SB81 Regional
Orderly Growth; SB304 NFPA Mandates; AB 358 Emergency Medical Services; SB432
Economic Development, and any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other action of the
legislature or the government of the State of Nevada causing SB1 or other post-tax
abatement revenues from Tesla or other tax abated or non-tax abated companies to be
canceled, diverted away from Storey County, redistributed, postponed, or extended, and
other properly related matters.

• Recommended motion: I (Fire Commissioner) motion to direct District staff and
lobbyists to represent Storey County Fire Protection District on each bill as follows (   )
and to proceed on other bills as directed:

• 1. AB 63 I80 Safety Corridors – Publicly support Storey County and this bill 
through communication with legislative leaders and other means. 

• 2. SB 81 Regional Orderly Growth – Oppose as drafted.  
• 3. SB 304 NFPA Mandates – Oppose the bill as written.
• 4. AB 358 Emergency Medical Services – Support and work with legislative leaders 

and other fire service organizations and associations within the state. 
• 5.     SB 432 Economic Development - Oppose the bill as written.
• 6. Any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other action of the legislature or the

government of the State of Nevada causing SB1 or other post-tax abatement revenues
from Tesla or other tax-abated or non-tax-abated companies to be canceled, diverted
away from Storey County Fire Protection District, redistributed, postponed, or extended,
and other properly related matters.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470954

• Staff Summary: The board at each meeting directs county staff and lobbyists to take
certain positions on bills of significance to Storey County Fire Protection District.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

     19



• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Fire District
Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.

• Recommended motion: I Fire Commissioner _______, approve the 2023-2024 Storey
County Fire District Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of
Taxation as presented.

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: The 2023-2024 Storey County Fire District Tentative Budget is
presented with the department level budget submissions. It is important to note that
negotiations with the Storey County Fire Fighters’ Association IAFF Local 4227 are still
on going; therefore, any fiscal impacts from these negotiations are not reflected here. The
scheduled approval for the Final budget will be during the May 16, 2023 Commission
meeting.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      20

























































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Update, discussion, and provide direction to county staff and lobbyists regarding
upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County including, but not limited to, the
following, and other properly related matters: AB63 I80 Safety Corridors; SB81 Regional
Orderly Growth; AB143 Lands Transfer Bill; AB47 OHV Bill; SB92 Sidewalk Vendors;
SB304 NFPA Mandates; SB432 Storey County post abatement revenue redistribution;
and any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other action of the legislature or the
government of the State of Nevada causing SB1 or other post-tax abatement revenues
from Tesla or other tax abated or non-tax abated companies to be canceled, diverted away
from Storey County, redistributed, postponed, or extended, and other properly related
matters.

• Recommended motion: I [county commissioner] motion to direct county staff and
lobbyists to represent Storey County on each bill as follows and to proceed on other bills
as directed:

• 1. AB63 I80 Safety Corridors – Amend bill per upcoming hearing, continue working with
neighboring jurisdictions to gain support and participation on this bill, and work with
legislative leaders for its support, and proceed with other legislative action as needed.

• 2. SB81 Regional Orderly Growth – Oppose as drafted and direct staff and lobbyists
to oppose bill entirely.

• 3. AB143 Lands Transfer Bill – Continue supporting.
• 4. AB47 OHV Bill – Support allowing OHVs on state and local highways as proposed.
• 5. SB92 Sidewalk Vendors – Stay neutral as bill pertains to areas of population over

100,000.
• 6. SB 304 NFPA Mandates – Oppose the bill as written.
• 7. Any legislative BDR, bill, resolution, or other action of the legislature or the

government of the State of Nevada causing SB1 or other post-tax abatement revenues
from Tesla or other tax abated or non-tax abated companies to be canceled, diverted away
from Storey County, redistributed, postponed, or extended, and other properly related
matters.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

     22



• Staff Summary: The board at each meeting directs county staff and lobbyists to take
certain positions on bills of significance to Storey County.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: To authorize the county manager to execute a license agreement between Storey
County and Renegade Towers, LLC to permit the construction of a commercial
communications tower on county property at 8665 USA Parkway, McCarran Nevada for
a monthly license fee of $900.00

• Recommended motion: I, [commissioner], move to authorize the county manager to
execute a license agreement between Storey County and Renegade Towers, LLC to
permit the construction of a commercial communications tower on county property at
8665 USA Parkway, McCarran Nevada for a monthly license fee of $900.00

• Prepared by: Mike Northan

Department:     Contact Number: 7753356991

• Staff Summary: This license agreement is in line with other license agreements across
the county for commercial communications towers.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     23



OPTION AND COMMUNICATION FACILITY LICENSE AGREEMENT

This OPTION AND COMMUNICATION FACILITY LICENSE AGREEMENT (“License”) is 
dated March 31, 2023 and is by and between Renegade Towers LLC, a California limited liability 
company (“Licensee”) whose address is 6710 Elverton Drive, Oakland, CA 94611 and the County of 
Storey, a Nevada body politic (“Licensor”) whose address is 26 South B Street, PO Box 190, Virginia 
City, Nevada 89440.  The parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Premises.    Licensor represents that Licensor owns the real property legally described in Exhibit
“A” with an address of 8665 USA Parkway, a portion of Sections 27 and 28, T19N R23E, M.D.M., Lot
2017-49, State Route 439, McCarran area, Storey County, Nevada and an APN of:  004-171-24
(“Property”).  Subject to the following terms and conditions, Licensor grants to Licensee an option to
license that portion of the Property depicted in Exhibit “B”, including any applicable easements for access
and utilities (the “Premises”).

2. Option.

(a) Option Fee. In consideration of One Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars ($1,900.00)
(“Option Fee”) to be paid by Licensee to Licensor within thirty (30) days after full execution of this 
License, Licensor hereby grants to Licensee the exclusive right and option (“Option”) to license the 
Premises in accordance with the terms and conditions as set forth herein.

(b) Option Period.  The Option may be exercised by Licensee at any time on or prior to April
30, 2024 (“Option Period”).   At Licensee’s election, the Option Period may be extended prior to its 
expiration for Two (2) additional twelve (12) month option periods with the payment by Licensee to  
Licensor of One Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars ($1,900.00) for each option extension.  If Licensee fails 
to exercise the Option within the Option Period, the Option shall terminate, all rights and privileges 
granted hereunder shall be deemed surrendered, and Licensor shall retain all money paid for the Option.  
Licensee may exercise the Option at any time during the Option Period by written notice (“Option 
Notice”) to Licensor.  The Option Notice shall be deemed effective on the date it is posted and, once 
provided, this License shall constitute a License between Licensor and Licensee on the terms and 
conditions contained herein.  The Option may be sold, assigned or transferred at any time by Licensee.

(c) Inspections and Surveys.  During the Option Period and term of this License if the Option
is exercised, Licensor shall permit Licensee and Licensee’s employees, agents and contractors ingress and 
egress to and from the Property in order to conduct structural strength analyses, subsurface boring tests, 
environmental inspections, radio frequency tests, and such other tests, investigations and similar activities 
(collectively, the “Inspections”) as Licensee may deem necessary or desirable.  All Inspections shall be 
performed at the sole cost of Licensee and Licensee will notify Licensor of any proposed Inspections.  
Licensee and its employees, agents and contractors shall have the right to bring the necessary vehicles and 
equipment onto the Property to conduct such tests, investigations and similar activities.  Licensee shall 
indemnify and hold Licensor harmless against any loss or damage for personal injury or physical damage 
to the Property or the property of third parties resulting from any Inspections.  Licensor also hereby grants 
to Licensee the right to: (i) survey the Property; and (ii) obtain a title report from a title insurance 
company of its choice.

(d) Governmental Approvals.  During the Option Period and term of this License if the
Option is exercised, Licensor agrees, at no expense to Licensor, to cooperate with Licensee, in making 
application for and obtaining all licenses, permits and any and all other approvals that may be required or 
desirable for Licensee’s intended use of the Premises.

(e) Utility Services.  During the Option Period and term of this License if the Option is
exercised, Licensor shall cooperate with Licensee in Licensee’s effort to obtain utility service pursuant to 



paragraph 6(d) below.

3. Use.  The Premises may be used by Licensee for any lawful activity in connection with the
provisions of mobile/wireless communications services, including without limitation, the transmission
and the reception of radio communication signals on various frequencies and the construction,
maintenance and operation of related communications facilities.

4. Term.    The initial term of this License shall be Five (5) years (“Initial Term”) commencing
upon the Option Notice (“Commencement Date”) and expiring at midnight on the fifth anniversary of
the Commencement Date.  Licensee shall have the right to extend the Initial Term of this License for five
(5) additional terms of Five (5) years each (“Renewal Term”).  Collectively, the Initial Term and
Renewal Terms shall be the “Term”.  The terms and conditions for the Renewal Term shall be the same
terms and conditions of this License, except that the Rent shall be increased as set forth below.  The Term
shall automatically be extended for each successive Five (5) year Renewal Term unless Licensee notifies
Licensor in writing of Licensee’s intention not to extend this License at least thirty (30) days prior to the
expiration of the Initial Term or Renewal Term, as applicable.

5. Rent.

(a) Upon the Commencement Date, Licensee shall pay Licensor, as rent, the sum of Nine
Hundred Dollars ($900.00) (“Rent”) per month.  Rent shall be payable to Licensor at Licensor’s address 
specified at the beginning of this License or as otherwise provided to Licensee in writing.

(b) If the Commencement Date is other than the first day of a calendar month, Licensee may
pay on the first day of the Term the prorated Rent for the remainder of the calendar month in which the 
Term commences, and thereafter, Licensee shall pay a full month’s Rent on the first day of each calendar 
month, except that payment shall be prorated for the final fractional month of this License, or if this 
License is terminated before the expiration of any month.

(c) Rent shall be increased annually on each anniversary of the Commencement Date by
three percent (3%) throughout the Term and any Renewal Term.  

(d) Licensee shall provide Licensor with written notice (“Tenant Notice”) of the date that
rent is commenced under the terms of a sublicense agreement with any and all subtenants on the Premises 
after the first subtenant on the Premises.  Upon the date specified as the subtenant’s rent commencement 
date in the Tenant Notice, the monthly Rent shall be increased by Nine Hundred Dollars ($900.00).  If 
such date is other than the first day of a calendar month, the increase in rent for the first month shall be 
prorated and paid by Licensee within thirty days.  If the Rent is increased due to this provision, the Rent 
shall be similarly decreased upon the expiration or earlier termination of a sublicense.

6. Improvements; Access.

(a) Upon the Commencement Date, Licensee shall have the right to construct, maintain,
install, repair and operate on the Premises a radio communications facility, including but not limited to, 
radio frequency transmitting and receiving equipment, batteries, utility lines, transmission lines, radio 
frequency transmitting and receiving antennae and supporting structures and improvements (“Licensee’s 
Facility”).  In connection therewith, Licensee has the right to do all work necessary to prepare, add, 
maintain and alter the Premises for Licensee’s communications operations and to install utility lines and 
transmission lines connecting antennas to transmitters and receivers.  Licensee shall have the right to 
install any warning signs on or about the Premises required by federal, state or local law.  All of 
Licensee’s construction and installation work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner.  



Title to Licensee’s Facility and any equipment placed on the Premises by Licensee shall be held by 
Licensee.  Licensee’s Facilities shall not be considered fixtures.

(b) Licensor shall provide Licensee, Licensee’s employees, agents, contractors,
subcontractors, licensees and assigns with access to the Premises twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) 
days a week, at no charge to Licensee.  Licensor represents and warrants that it has full rights of ingress to 
and egress from the Premises, and hereby grants such rights to Licensee to the extent required to 
construct, maintain, install, and operate Licensee’s Facility on the Premises.  Licensee’s exercise of such 
rights shall not cause undue inconvenience to Licensor.  

(c) Licensor shall maintain all access roadways from the nearest public roadway to the
Premises in a manner sufficient to allow reasonable access.  Licensor shall be responsible for maintaining 
and repairing such roadways, at its sole expense, except for any damage caused by Licensee’s use of such 
roadways.  If Licensee causes any such damage, it shall promptly repair same.

(d) Licensee shall have the right to install utilities, at Licensee’s expense, and to improve the
present utilities on or near the Premises including, but not limited to, the right to install emergency back-
up power.  Subject to Licensor’s approval of the location, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed, Licensee shall have the right to place utilities on (or to bring utilities 
across) the Property in order to service the Premises and Licensee’s Facility.  Upon Licensee’s request, 
Licensor shall execute recordable easement(s) evidencing this right.  If an easement is conveyed by 
Licensor to Licensee, it shall terminate upon the expiration or earlier termination of this License.  
Licensee shall fully and promptly pay for all utilities furnished to the Premises for the use, operation and 
maintenance of Licensee’s Facilities.

(e) Within sixty (60) days after the expiration, cancellation or termination of this License,
Licensee shall remove its Facility and shall surrender the Premises to Licensor in good condition, less 
ordinary wear and tear; provided, however, Licensee shall not be required to remove any foundation, 
cables, or wires that exist twenty-four (24) inches or more below grade.

7. Interference with Communications.

(a) Licensee’s Facility shall not disturb the communications configurations, equipment and
frequency that exist on Licensor’s Property on the Commencement Date (“Pre-existing 
Communications”) and Licensee’s Facilities shall comply with all non-interference rules of the Federal 
Communications Commission.  

(b) Licensor shall not permit the use of any portion of the Property in a way that interferes
with the use of the Premises described in Paragraph 3 above.  Such interference with Licensee’s 
communications operations shall be deemed a material breach by Licensor, and Licensor shall have the 
responsibility to promptly terminate said interference.  In the event any such interference does not cease 
promptly, the parties acknowledge that continuing interference will cause irreparable injury to Licensee, 
and therefore, Licensee shall have (i) the right to bring action to enjoin such interference and (ii) the right 
to terminate the License immediately upon notice to Licensor, in addition to any other rights or remedies 
at law or in equity.  

(c) As a material inducement for Licensee entering into this License, Licensor agrees that
Licensor shall not license, license nor permit its licensees, licensees or invitees to construct, install or 
operate a communication facility on the Property subsequent to the date of this License without the prior 
written consent of Licensee, which may be withheld in Licensee’s sole reasonable discretion.

8. Taxes.    Licensee shall pay personal property taxes assessed against Licensee’s Facility and
Licensor shall pay when due, all real property taxes and all other taxes, fees and assessments attributable
to the Premises or this License.



9. Default and Termination.

(a) This License, in addition to any other remedies which may be pursued in law or in equity,
may be terminated by either party upon a default of any covenant, condition, or term hereof by the other 
party, which default is not cured within sixty (60) days of receipt of written notice of such default.

(b) This License may also be terminated by Licensee without further liability on thirty (30)
days prior written notice (i) if Licensee is unable to reasonably obtain or maintain any certificate, license, 
permit, authority or approval from any governmental authority, thus, restricting Licensee from installing, 
removing, replacing, maintaining or operating Licensee’s Facilities or using the Premises in the manner 
described in Paragraph 2 above; or (ii) if Licensee determines that the Premises are not appropriate for its 
operations for economic, environmental or technological reasons, including without limitation, signal 
strength, coverage or interference.

10. Destruction of Premises.    If the Premises or Licensor’s Property is destroyed or damaged so as
in Licensee’s judgment, to hinder its effective use of the Property, Licensor shall make available to
Licensee within five (5) days a temporary site on Licensor’s Property which is equally suitable for
Licensee’s use.  Licensee may construct, operate, and maintain substitute Licensee’s Facilities thereon
until Licensee’s Facility is fully restored and operational on the Premises.  Rent shall abate in full during
any time that Licensee is unable to operate Licensee’s Facility or temporary facilities on the Property.
Alternatively, Licensee may elect to terminate this License as of the date of the damage or destruction by
so notifying Licensor no more than thirty (30) days following the date of damage or destruction.

11. Condemnation.    If a condemning authority takes all or a portion of Licensor’s Property, which
in Licensee’s opinion is sufficient to render the Premises unsuitable for Licensee’s use, then Licensee
may terminate this License as of the date when possession is delivered to the condemning authority.  Sale
of all or part of the Premises to a purchaser with the power of eminent domain in the face of the exercise
of its power of eminent domain, shall be treated as a taking by a condemning authority.

12. Insurance.  Licensee shall maintain the following insurance: (i) Commercial General Liability
with limits of $1,000,000.00 per occurrence, covering Licensee’s use, occupancy and operations on the
Premises; and (ii) Workers Compensation as required by law.  Licensee shall name Licensor as an
additional insured with respect to the above Commercial General Liability insurance.

13. Assignment.    Licensee may assign this License at any time upon notice to Licensor.

14. Title and Quiet Enjoyment.  Licensor represents and warrants that it has full right, power, and
authority to execute this License.  Licensor further warrants that Licensee shall have quiet enjoyment of
the Premises during the Term of this License or any Renewal Term with the proviso that Licensor’s use,
maintenance of the Property or own equipment on the Property shall not constitute a violation of the
Licensee’s right to quiet enjoyment.

15. Repairs.  Licensee shall not be required to make any repairs to the Premises except for damages
to the Premises caused by Licensee, its employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors.

16. Environmental.
(a) Licensor represents: (i) that the Property has not been used for the generation, storage,

treatment or disposal of hazardous materials, hazardous substances or hazardous wastes; and (ii) that no 
hazardous materials, hazardous substances, hazardous wastes, pollutants, asbestos, polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs), petroleum or other fuels (including crude oil or any fraction or derivative thereof) or 



underground storage tanks are located on or near the Premises.   Licensor shall treat all hazardous 
materials, hazardous substances or hazardous wastes brought onto the Property or Premises by it in 
accordance with all federal, state and local laws and regulations.

(b) Licensee shall not bring any hazardous materials, hazardous substances or hazardous
wastes onto the Property or Premises except for those common materials used in telecommunications 
operations (e.g. cleaning solvents and batteries).  Licensee will treat all hazardous materials brought onto 
the Premises by it in accordance with all federal, state and local laws and regulations.

(c) Each party shall indemnify, defend, protect and hold the other party harmless from and
against any and all claims, loss, proceedings, damages, causes of action, liability, costs or expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees) arising as a result of a breach of this paragraph 16.  The indemnification under 
this Section 16 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this License.

17. Notices.    All notices shall be: (i) in writing; (ii) to the address given at the beginning of this
License (or to the address specified in the most recent written notice of any change in address); (iii) with
delivery by hand, U.S. mail return receipt requested or reliable overnight courier.

18. Miscellaneous

(a) The substantially prevailing party in any legal claim arising hereunder shall be entitled to
its reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs, including appeals, if any.

(b) Licensor shall obtain for the benefit of Licensee a reasonable Non-Disturbance
Agreement from the present and any future mortgagee(s) or holder(s) of a deed of trust confirming that 
Licensee’s right to quiet possession of the Premises during this License shall not be disturbed, so long as 
Licensee is not in default under this License.

(c) If any provision of the License is invalid or unenforceable with respect to any party, the
remainder of this License or the application of such provision to persons other than those as to whom it is 
held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected and each provision of this License shall be valid and 
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

(d) Terms and conditions of this License which by their sense and context survive the
termination, cancellation or expiration of this License will so survive.

(e) Each party agrees to furnish to the other, within twenty (20) days after request, such
truthful estoppel information about this license as the other may reasonably request.

(f) This License shall be governed under Nevada law and be binding on and inure to the
benefit of the successors and permitted assignees of the respective parties.

(g) Upon request either party may require that a Memorandum of License be recorded
confirming the (i) License commencement, (ii) expiration date of the Term, and (iii) the duration of any 
Renewal Terms.

(h) This License constitutes the entire License between the parties, and supersedes all
understandings, offers, negotiations and other licenses concerning the subject matter contained herein.  
There are no representations or understandings of any kind not set forth herein.  Any amendments, 
modifications or waivers of any of the terms and conditions of this License must be in writing and 
executed by both parties.

19. Right of First Refusal.   If at any time after the date of this License, Licensor receives a bona
fide written offer from a third party seeking: (i) an assignment of the rental stream associated with this
License; (ii) to purchase a portion of the Property where the Premises are located; (iii) or a grant of an
easement to the Property where the Premises are located (“Rent Purchase Offer”) which Licensor



desires to accept, Licensor shall immediately furnish Licensee with a written copy of the Rent Purchase 
Offer.  Licensee shall have the right within thirty (30) days after Licensee receives such copy and 
representation to match the Rent Purchase Offer.  If Licensee agrees in writing to match the terms of the 
Rent Purchase Offer within the thirty (30) day notice period, such writing shall be binding upon Licensor 
and Licensee and Licensee shall have sixty (60) days to complete such transaction on the agreed upon 
terms.  If Licensee chooses not to exercise this right or fails to provide written notice to Licensor within 
the thirty (30) day period, Licensor may assign, transfer or grant the rights pursuant to the Rent Purchase 
Offer, subject to the terms of this License.  Should Licensor assign, grant, transfer, or sell its interest in 
the License or a portion of the Property occupied by Licensee to a third party, such assignment, sale or 
grant of an easement or interest therein shall be under and subject to this License and any such purchaser 
or transferee shall recognize Licensee’s rights hereunder under the terms of this License.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this License effective as of the date first above 
written.

LICENSEE:   Renegade Towers LLC, a California limited liability company

By: ________________________  Date: ________________________
Name: Michael C. Miller
Title: Managing Member

LICENSOR:  Storey County, a Nevada body politic

By: ________________________ Date: ________________________

Name: ________________________

Title: ________________________



EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LICENSOR’S PROPERTY

Also known as APN: 004-171-24



EXHIBIT B
DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES

The Premises will consist of approximately 10,000 square feet (approximately 100 feet by 100 feet) in the 
general location as described/shown in this exhibit.  The parties acknowledge that Licensee shall have the 
right to retain the services of a surveyor and A&E firm to complete a site plan (“Site Plan”) specifically 
showing the licensed area and improvements such as Licensee’s tower structure, antennae locations, 
equipment shelter locations, and cables and utility runs across Licensor’s Property.  

The Premises and the associated utility connections and access, including easements, ingress, egress, 
dimensions, and locations as described/shown below and on the Site Plans, are approximate only and may 
be adjusted or changed by Licensee at the time of construction to reasonably accommodate sound 
engineering criteria and the physical features of Licensor’s Property. 

Image 1 of 2:
Renegade Towers License 
area.
Approximately (100’x 100’)



Image 2 of 2:

Renegade Towers License 
area.
Approximately (100’x 100’)



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and Possible Action of Grant of Easement File No. 2023-010 to NV
Energy for utilities within a portion of the Electric Avenue Right-of-Way at the
intersection of USA Pkwy, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I
[commissioner] move to approve a Grant of Easement (2023-010) to NV Energy for
utilities located within a portion of the Electric Avenue Right-of-Way at the intersection
of USA Pkwy, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.1144

• Staff Summary: NV Energy is requesting an easement to facilitate installation of a gas
line.  Although necessary for the gas line, the easement covers all utility equipment and
activities associated with NV Energy.  This easement is for a portion of Electric Avenue
at the intersection with USA Parkway where it was discovered an easement did not exist.
The Public Works Director has reviewed the easement and has no concerns.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      24



Location: Electric Avenue 
RW# RW-0042-2023 
Proj. #300834268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

1 

Location: Electric Avenue at USA Parkway 

The undersigned hereby affirms that 
 this document, including any exhibits  
hereby submitted for recording does  
not contain the personal information  
of any person or persons (Per NRS 239B.030) 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
Land Resources 
NV Energy 
P.O. Box 10100 MS S4B20 
Reno, NV 89520 

GRANT OF EASEMENT 

STOREY COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“Grantor"), for One 
Dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, and on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, grants and 
conveys to Sierra Pacific Power Company, a Nevada corporation, d/b/a NV Energy 
(“Grantee”) and its successors and assigns a perpetual right and easement: 

1. To construct, operate, add to, modify, maintain, replace and remove
aboveground and/or underground communication facilties, gas systems for the
distribution and transmission of gas, and electric line systems for the distribution
of electricity, consisting of poles, guys, anchors, cables, conduit, duct banks,
manholes, vaults, transformers, pipes, valves, fittings, regulators, meters, vaults
and other fixtures, apparatus and improvements (“Utility Facilities”), and service
boxes/meter panels, cabinets, bollards and other equipment, fixtures, apparatus,
and improvements (“Additional Utility Facilities”) upon, over, under and
through the property legally described in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this
reference made a part of this Grant of Easement (“Easement Area”);



Location: Electric Avenue 
RW# RW-0042-2023 
Proj. #300834268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

2 

2. For ingress and egress to, from, over and across the Easement Area for the
allowed purposes defined in numbered paragraph 1 above and for all other
activities permitted by this agreement;

3. To remove, clear, cut or trim any obstruction or material (including trees, other
vegetation and structures) from the surface or subsurface of the Easement Area
as Grantee may deem necessary or advisable for the safe and proper use and
maintenance of the Utility Facilities or the Additional Utility Facilities within the
Easement Area.

Grantee will be responsible for any damages, proximately caused by Grantee
negligently construction, operating, adding to, maintain, or removing the Utility Facilities 
and/or the Additional Utility Facilities, to any tangible,, personally property or 
improvements owned by Grantor and located on the Easement Area on the date 
Grantor signs the Grant of Easement.  However, this paragraph does not apply to and 
Grantee is not responsible for, any damages caused when Grantee exercises its rights 
under numbered paragraph 3 above so long as it exercises its rights in a prudent and 
non-negligent manner. 

Grantee shall bear the entire cost and expense of installing and maintaining said 
Utility Facilities and Additional Utility Facilities in said Easement Area. 

Grantee shall, at its expense, comply with all applicable laws, regulations, rules 
and orders regardless of when they become or became effective, including, without 
limitation, those relating to health, safety, noise, environmental protection, waste 
disposal, and water and air quality. 

Grantee shall coordinate initial construction and/or maintenance with any existing 
lessees/occupants of the real property and shall use its best efforts not to unreasonably 
interfere with use/access of such lessees/occupants in the course of its construction 
and/or maintenance. 

Grantee agrees that no assessments will be levied against the property of 
Grantor to defray any part of the expense incurred in connection with any construction 
in the Easement Area. 

Grantee agrees to investigate, release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
Grantor, its officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns from all claims, 
liability, cost and expense, howsoever same may be caused, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, for loss of or damage to property for injuries to or death of persons 



Location: Electric Avenue 
RW# RW-0042-2023 
Proj. #300834268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

3 

arising out of the construction, reconstruction, maintenance, presence in, or use of the 
Easement Area by Grantee, its employees, agents, licensees, invitees, successors or 
assigns. 

Grantee shall fully pay for all materials installed in the Easement Area and shall 
pay in full all persons who perform labor thereupon. Grantee shall not permit any 
mechanics’ or materialmen’s liens of any kind or nature to be enforced against the 
property for any work done or materials furnished thereon at Grantee’s request. 

Grantor covenants for the benefit of Grantee, its successors and assigns, that no 
building, structure or other real property improvements will be constructed or placed on 
or within the Easement Area without the prior written consent of Grantee, such 
structures and improvements to include, but not be limited to, drainage, trees, bridges, 
signage, roads, fencing, storage facilities, parking canopies, and other covered facilities. 
Grantee and Grantor must document Grantee’s consent by both signing Grantee’s 
standard, recordable use agreement. Grantor retains, for its benefit, the right to 
maintain, use and otherwise landscape the Easement Area for its own purposes; 
provided, however, that all such purposes and uses do not interfere with Grantee’s 
rights herein, Grantee’s gas and electrical practices, and the National Electrical Safety 
Code.  Grantee may use this easement to provide service to any of its customers. 

(signatures on next page) 



Location: Electric Avenue 
RW# RW-0042-2023 
Proj. #300834268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused these presents duly to be executed the 
day and year first above written.   

GRANTOR: GRANTEE: 

Accepted for the County of Storey, Sierra Pacific Power Company 
by the Board of County Commissioners 

By: By: 

Name:  Name:  

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 

(acknowledgements on next page) 



Location: Electric Avenue 
RW# RW-0042-2023 
Proj. #300834268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

5 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

STATE OF ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of 

_____________, 2023, by ______________________ as _______________________ 
of Sierra Pacific Power Company d/b/a NV Energy. 

________________________________ 
  Notary Public 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF STOREY ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of  

_____________, 2023, by ______________________ as _______________________ 

 of the BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF STOREY COUNTY, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada. 

________________________________ 
  Notary Public 





AutoCAD SHX Text
USA PARKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREY COUNTY PARCEL 2007-145 FILE: 108433 EASEMENT AREA: 35,552± SQ. FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-60

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-70

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-81

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-92

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-96

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-80

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-43

AutoCAD SHX Text
6100 NEIL RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RENO, NV 89511

AutoCAD SHX Text
775-834-4011

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXHIBIT MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREY COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
T. 20 N., R. 22 E., SECT. 35 M.D.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREY COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEVADA

AutoCAD SHX Text
2/22/2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXHIBIT A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 100'



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and Possible Action of Grant of Easement File No. 2023-011 to NV
Energy for utilities within a portion of the Electric Avenue Right-of-Way east of USA
Pkwy, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I
[commissioner] move to approve a Grant of Easement (2023-011) to NV Energy for
utilities located within a portion of the Electric Avenue Right-of-Way east of USA Pkwy,
McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.1144

• Staff Summary: NV Energy is requesting an easement to facilitate installation of a gas
line. Although necessary for the gas line, the easement covers all utility equipment and
activities associated with NV Energy. This easement is for a portion of Electric Avenue,
east of the intersection of USA Parkway, where it was discovered an easement did not
exist. The Public Works Director has reviewed the easement and has no concerns.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      25



Location: Electric Avenue East of USA Parkway 
RW# RW-0106-2023 
Proj. #3008346268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

1 

Location: Electric Avenue East of USA Parkway 

The undersigned hereby affirms that 
 this document, including any exhibits  
hereby submitted for recording does  
not contain the personal information  
of any person or persons (Per NRS 239B.030) 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
Land Resources 
NV Energy 
P.O. Box 10100 MS S4B20 
Reno, NV 89520 

GRANT OF EASEMENT 

STOREY COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“Grantor"), for One 
Dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, and on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, grants and 
conveys to Sierra Pacific Power Company, a Nevada corporation, d/b/a NV Energy 
(“Grantee”) and its successors and assigns a perpetual right and easement: 

1. To construct, operate, add to, modify, maintain, replace and remove
aboveground and/or underground communication facilties, gas systems for the
distribution and transmission of gas, and electric line systems for the distribution
of electricity, consisting of poles, guys, anchors, cables, conduit, duct banks,
manholes, vaults, transformers, pipes, valves, fittings, regulators, meters, vaults
and other fixtures, apparatus and improvements (“Utility Facilities”), and service
boxes/meter panels, cabinets, bollards and other equipment, fixtures, apparatus,
and improvements (“Additional Utility Facilities”) upon, over, under and
through the property legally described in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this
reference made a part of this Grant of Easement (“Easement Area”);



Location: Electric Avenue East of USA Parkway 
RW# RW-0106-2023 
Proj. #3008346268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

2 

2. For ingress and egress to, from, over and across the Easement Area for the
allowed purposes defined in numbered paragraph 1 above and for all other
activities permitted by this agreement;

3. To remove, clear, cut or trim any obstruction or material (including trees, other
vegetation and structures) from the surface or subsurface of the Easement Area
as Grantee may deem necessary or advisable for the safe and proper use and
maintenance of the Utility Facilities or the Additional Utility Facilities within the
Easement Area.

Grantee will be responsible for any damages, proximately caused by Grantee
negligently construction, operating, adding to, maintain, or removing the Utility Facilities 
and/or the Additional Utility Facilities, to any tangible,, personally property or 
improvements owned by Grantor and located on the Easement Area on the date 
Grantor signs the Grant of Easement.  However, this paragraph does not apply to and 
Grantee is not responsible for, any damages caused when Grantee exercises its rights 
under numbered paragraph 3 above so long as it exercises its rights in a prudent and 
non-negligent manner. 

Grantee shall bear the entire cost and expense of installing and maintaining said 
Utility Facilities and Additional Utility Facilities in said Easement Area. 

Grantee shall, at its expense, comply with all applicable laws, regulations, rules 
and orders regardless of when they become or became effective, including, without 
limitation, those relating to health, safety, noise, environmental protection, waste 
disposal, and water and air quality. 

Grantee shall coordinate initial construction and/or maintenance with any existing 
lessees/occupants of the real property and shall use its best efforts not to unreasonably 
interfere with use/access of such lessees/occupants in the course of its construction 
and/or maintenance. 

Grantee agrees that no assessments will be levied against the property of 
Grantor to defray any part of the expense incurred in connection with any construction 
in the Easement Area. 

Grantee agrees to investigate, release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
Grantor, its officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns from all claims, 
liability, cost and expense, howsoever same may be caused, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, for loss of or damage to property for injuries to or death of persons 



Location: Electric Avenue East of USA Parkway 
RW# RW-0106-2023 
Proj. #3008346268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

3 

arising out of the construction, reconstruction, maintenance, presence in, or use of the 
Easement Area by Grantee, its employees, agents, licensees, invitees, successors or 
assigns. 

Grantee shall fully pay for all materials installed in the Easement Area and shall 
pay in full all persons who perform labor thereupon. Grantee shall not permit any 
mechanics’ or materialmen’s liens of any kind or nature to be enforced against the 
property for any work done or materials furnished thereon at Grantee’s request. 

Grantor covenants for the benefit of Grantee, its successors and assigns, that no 
building, structure or other real property improvements will be constructed or placed on 
or within the Easement Area without the prior written consent of Grantee, such 
structures and improvements to include, but not be limited to, drainage, trees, bridges, 
signage, roads, fencing, storage facilities, parking canopies, and other covered facilities. 
Grantee and Grantor must document Grantee’s consent by both signing Grantee’s 
standard, recordable use agreement. Grantor retains, for its benefit, the right to 
maintain, use and otherwise landscape the Easement Area for its own purposes; 
provided, however, that all such purposes and uses do not interfere with Grantee’s 
rights herein, Grantee’s gas and electrical practices, and the National Electrical Safety 
Code.  Grantee may use this easement to provide service to any of its customers. 

(signatures on next page) 



Location: Electric Avenue East of USA Parkway 
RW# RW-0106-2023 
Proj. #3008346268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused these presents duly to be executed the 
day and year first above written.   

GRANTOR: GRANTEE: 

Accepted for the County of Storey, Sierra Pacific Power Company 
by the Board of County Commissioners 

By: By: 

Name:  Name:  

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 

(acknowledgements on next page) 



Location: Electric Avenue East of USA Parkway 
RW# RW-0106-2023 
Proj. #3008346268 
Project Name: Utility Extensions 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG  

5 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

STATE OF ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of 

_____________, 2023, by ______________________ as _______________________ 
of Sierra Pacific Power Company d/b/a NV Energy. 

________________________________ 
  Notary Public 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF STOREY ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of  

_____________, 2023, by ______________________ as _______________________ 

 of the BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF STOREY COUNTY, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada. 

________________________________ 
  Notary Public 





AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREY COUNTY (ELECTRIC AVENUE) PARCEL 2008-39 FILE: 110555 EASEMENT AREA: 9.79± ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
USA PARKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-96

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-041-92

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 004-101-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-111-65

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-111-70

AutoCAD SHX Text
6100 NEIL RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RENO, NV 89511

AutoCAD SHX Text
775-834-4011

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXHIBIT MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREY COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
T. 20 N., R. 22 E., SECT. 35 M.D.M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREY COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEVADA

AutoCAD SHX Text
2/22/2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXHIBIT A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 1,000'



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Resolution No. 23-676 of the Board of
Storey County Commissioners extending the declaration of a state of emergency in
Storey County due to unforeseen severe weather events causing sudden flooding,
avalanche, and mudslide due to snow runoff caused by atmospheric river flows across the
county starting March 9, 2023, and the end date extending from April 4, 2023, to such
time that the State of Nevada ends its declaration of emergency. The emergency
declaration may provide the county access to state and federal funds and other resources
which otherwise may not be available for its response to the weather emergency. This
action should not cause alarm, but it should remind residents and businesses to be vigilant
and to prepare for potential impacts caused by storm events.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve Resolution No. 23-676 of
the Board of Storey County Commissioners extending the declaration of a state of
emergency in Storey County due to unforeseen severe weather events causing sudden
flooding, avalanche, and mudslide due to snow runoff caused by atmospheric river flows
across the county starting March 9, 2023, and the end date extending from April 4, 2023,
to such time that the State of Nevada ends its declaration of emergency.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Maintaining the county declaration in accordance with the state
declaration may provide the county access to state and federal funds and other resources
which may not otherwise be available for the county’s response to weather-related issues.

•
• This action should not cause alarm, but it should remind residents and businesses to be

vigilant and to prepare for potential impacts caused by storm events.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

    26



• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



DECLARATION OF EMERGENCY

WHEREAS, Storey County has suffered a series of extreme weather events in recent 

months including heavy snow accumulation, and which by current weather forecasts 

unforeseen heavy rain at high elevations is believed to occur From March 9, 2023 through 

such time that the State of Nevada declares that the state of emergency is no longer 

appropriate resulting in potential flooding, avalanche, and mudslides throughout the 

county, especially in its lower elevation communities.  

AND WHEREAS, these weather events have resulted in damages to roadways, 

culverts, drainage facilities, bridges, communications facilities, county property and 

equipment, and to real and personal property.

AND WHEREAS, these conditions have prompted  emergency responses to protect 

and to preserve lives and public and private properties. 

in and around the County;

AND WHEREAS, all of these circumstances have severely taxed the County’s 

emergency response resources, including fire, medical, road maintenance, and Sheriff 

personnel;

NOW THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY DECLARED THAT A STATE OF EMERGENCY exists in 

Storey County and Storey County Emergency Management Director Michael “Mike” Bullian 

is authorized to take whatever actions are necessary to prevent further loss of property and 

injury to or loss of life as may be appropriate and available including requesting assistance 

from the State of Nevada.

DATED this 21st day of April 2023, at  time.

Jay Carmona, Chairman
Storey County Board of Commissioners



SUMMARY:  RESOLUTION OF THE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS DECLARING A STATE OF 
EMERGENCY IN THE COUNTY OF STOREY DUE TO STORM EVENTS

RESOLUTION  23- _____

WHEREAS, Storey County is a political subdivision of the State of Nevada; and

WHEREAS, beginning on or about March 9, 2023, and, according to current forecasts, 

lasting through such time that the State of Nevada declares that the state of emergency is 

no longer appropriate, the unforeseen atmospheric river conditions will cause a series of 

storms, avalanches, and mudslides to impact much of Northern Nevada including Storey 

County.

WHEREAS, as a result of the storm, damage was done to roadways, culverts, bridges, 

and real and personal property within Storey County.

WHEREAS, as a result, Storey County manpower and resources have been and now 

are stretched to their limits, and assistance to respond to the emergency may be necessary 

with anticipated continued atmospheric river activity to Storey County by other jurisdictions.

WHEREAS, the health, safety, and welfare of persons and property in Storey County 

were and may continue to be endangered due to the storm events and

WHEREAS, on the 10th day of March, 2023, Storey County Manager Austin Osborne 

and Storey County Emergency Management Director Mike Bullian requested that the Board 

of County Commissioners in a duly noticed open meeting of the Board declare that an 

emergency existed during the course of the storm events which request was unanimously 

approved by the Board, and on April 4, 2023, the County Manager and Emergency 

Management Director request that the declaration of emergency is extended to the period 

when the State of Nevada ends its declaration of emergency.

WHEREAS, the State of Nevada and the United States Government have 

manpower and resources which may be available to Storey County and its residents; now 

therefore,

THE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF STOREY COUNTY DO RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS, TO 

WIT:

1. That the Storey County Board of Commissioners, under and by virtue of

authority vested in them by Chapters 244 and 414 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, does 

676



hereby declare that a disaster area and state of emergency exists within the County of 

Storey and that all local resources were used to respond to, recover from, and mitigate the 

effects of the emergency caused by the storm events. 

2. That the Storey County Commissioners do hereby request that the Governor

of the State of Nevada investigate the emergency existing in Storey County and declare that 

a disaster area and state of emergency exists in Storey County.

3. That the Storey County Commissioners do hereby request that the Governor

of the State of Nevada provide assistance, equipment and manpower from the appropriate 

state agencies, including the Nevada Division of Emergency Management, the Nevada 

Department of Transportation and other agencies needed to address the disaster.

4. That the Storey County Commissioners do hereby request that the Governor

of the State of Nevada contact the Nevada Congressional Delegation in Washington, D.C. to 

solicit their assistance in gaining federal aid for Storey County.

PASSED AND ADOPTED ON                   at HOURS.

THOSE VOTING AYE:

THOSE VOTING NAY:

ABSENT:

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

Jay Carmona, CHAIRMAN
Storey County Board of Commissioners



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1-2 hours

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Tentative Budget
for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.

• Recommended motion: I, Commissioner ________, approve the 2023-2024 Storey
County Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation as
presented.

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: The 2023-2024 Storey County Tentative Budget is presented with the
department level budget submissions. While we anticipate some changes to the final
budget the budget as presented here is quite comprehensive. In this tentative budget the
general fund revenues are sufficient to cover the operational expenses of the County.
Across fund increases include; a health insurance increase of 26%, pay schedule
increases per union CBAs and policy, and a PERS increase for both regular and
police/fire employees. The scheduled approval for the Final budget will be during the
May 16, 2023 Commission meeting.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification

     27



[ ] Denied [ ] Continued























































































































































































































































































































































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Discussion and possible action to accept assignment of lease of property within the
Silver Terrace cemeteries from Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF) which is presently
leased to CCF for 99 years for $1 per year by Consolidated Virginia Mining Company
(CVMC). CVMC will include in the lease additional property within is an as yet
undefined area of cemetery property to be known as the Eastern Extended Lands (EEL).
In order to define the area being included in the assigned lease the County will cause a
survey of a portion of the Ohio Relocation and March Fraction mining claims belonging
to CVMC to be made at County’s expense in an approximate amount of $30,000.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner), move to approve the acceptance of the
assignment of the lease between CCF and CVMC from CCF and authorize the County to
survey a portion of the Ohio Relocation and March Fraction mining claims to be included
in the assigned lease for an amount not to exceed $30,000.00 and authorize the Chairman
to sign.

• Prepared by: Keith Loomis

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0964

• Staff Summary: The Consolidated Virginia Mining Company (CVMC) has leased a
portion of the Silver Terrace Cemeteries to the Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF)
for 99 years for a rental amount of $1 per year. It is proposed that the CCF assign its
rights under the lease to Storey County for the purpose of assisting the CCF in
preserving, protecting and managing the Silver Terrace Cemeteries which are the subject
of the lease between CCF and CVMC. The method of protecting preserving and
managing the cemetery lands is set forth in the Agreement between the County and CCF
which was approved by the Board on November 2, 2022 (Agreement). It is also proposed
that the area encompassed within the lease be expanded to include the Eastern Extended
Lands which will also be subject to the terms of the Agreement. In order to specifically
identify the EEL the County will need to conduct a survey of portions of the Ohio
Relocation and March Fraction mining claims owned by CVMC. Presently there is a
proposal to perform that survey by Lumos and Associates for approximately $30,000.00.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

     28



• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1

APN:  800-000-18, 800-000-19, 
800-000-20, 800-000-21, 800-000-22,
800-000-23, 800-000-28

Recorded at the request of and
when recorded return to:

Storey County, a political subdivision 
of the State of Nevada
26 South B Street
Virginia City, NV 89440

The undersigned affirms that this document
does not contain the personal information of any person.

______________________
Keith Loomis 
Chief Deputy District Attorney

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF LEASE
(Storey County)

This ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF LEASE (the “Assignment”) is made as of 
this day ____ of April, 2023, by Comstock Cemetery Foundation, Inc., a nonprofit corporation, 20 
N. “E”/P.O. 1172, Virginia City, NV 89440 (“Assignor”) and Storey County (“County”), a
political subdivision of the State of Nevada, [address], (“Assignee”).

RECITALS:

A. Assignor is presently the Lessee under the Access and Lease Agreement (Lease)
with Consolidated Virginia Mining Company (CVMC), dated July 21, 2021, and recorded in 
Storey County on August 10, 2021 as Document # 134571 (“Lease”);

B. Assignor has agreed to assign, and Assignee has agreed to accept, all of Assignor’s
rights, duties, and obligations under the Lease; and

C. CVMC has consented to this Assignment, notwithstanding Section 8.1 of the Lease,
predicated upon completion of the agreements and commitments contained in the Memorandum 
of Understanding, dated ______.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein 
contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged. Assignor and Assignee hereby agree as follows:



2

1. Assignment.  Assignor hereby grants, transfers, conveys, and assigns to Assignee
all of Assignor’s right, title, estate, and interest in, to and under the Lease as Lessee.

2. Assumption.  Assignee hereby accepts such assignment of Assignor’s right, title, estate,
and interest in, to and under the Lease. CVMC includes within the lease an as yet undefined area,
within the leased lands which are being assigned to Assignee. In addition Assignee; (i) assumes
and agrees to be bound by all of the terms of the Lease, and (ii) agrees to keep, perform, fulfill,
and observe all of the terms, covenants, obligations, agreements, and conditions required to be
kept, performed, fulfilled, and observed by the Lessee under the Lease or any subleases from and
after the execution and delivery of this Assignment by Assignor and Assignee.

3. Annexation of other Property into the Leased Lands.  It is further understood and agreed
that Assignee will undertake, at its expense, to cause a survey to be made of a portion of the Ohio 
Relocation USS 2581 and the March Fraction USS 4005 mining claims which are described in the 
Memorandum of Understanding between Assignor and Assignee as the Eastern Extended Lands 
(EEL).  CVMC includes this, as yet undefined area, within the leased lands which are being 
assigned to Assignee. The exact boundaries of this included area will be determined upon 
completion of the survey.  This is a temporary inclusion as once the surveyed boundaries are 
known, CVMC will convey the surveyed area by deed to Assignee for so long as the surveyed area 
will be used for cemetery purposes.

4. Indemnification of Assignor.  Assignee hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and
hold Assignor harmless from and against any and all liability, loss, cost, damage, and expense 
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) directly or indirectly arising 
out of or based upon Assignee’s failure to keep, perform, fulfill, and observe any of the terms, 
covenants, obligations, agreements, and conditions required to be kept, performed, fulfilled, and 
observed by the Lessor under the Lease from and after the execution and delivery of this 
Assignment by Assignor and Assignee.

5. Binding Effect.  This Assignment shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding
upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

6. Survival of Certain Provisions.  The provisions of Sections 2 and 3 hereof shall
survive the execution and delivery of this Assignment by Assignor and Assignee and the 
assignment of the Lease pursuant hereto.

7. Governing Law.  This Assignment shall be construed in accordance with and
governed by the laws of the State of Nevada.

8. Counterparts.  This Assignment may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.

Signatures are set forth on the following page.



3

Assignor: 

COMSTOCK CEMETERY FOUNDTION, 
INC.

By: ____________________________
Its: ____________________________

STATE OF NEVADA )
) ss:

COUNTY OF STOREY )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this ____ day of 
______________ ___, 2023, by ________________, as _________________ of Comstock 
Cemetery Foundation, Inc.

NOTARY PUBLIC

Assignee:

STOREY COUNTY

By:__________________________
Jay Carmona, Chairman
Board of County Commissioners

Dated this ______ day of ________, 2023.

ATTEST

___________________________
Jim Hindle
Storey County Clerk/Treasurer

APPROVED AND AGREED:

Consolidated Virginia Mining Company

By: ___________________________
       Hugh Roy Marshall, President

























Storey County Water and Sewer Board
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 20

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Water and Sewer
Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.

• Recommended motion: I, Commissioner _____, approve the 2023-2024 Storey County
Water and Sewer Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation
as presented.

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: The 2023-2024 Storey County Water and Sewer Tentative Budget is
presented with the department level budget submissions. While we anticipate some
changes to the final budget the budget as presented here is quite comprehensive. The
scheduled approval for the Final budget will be during the May 16, 2023 Commission
meeting.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     30







































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings:
• A. Custom Sign Service LLC – Contractor / 3350 Centennial Park Dr. ~ Carson City, NV
• B. RAD Pizza – Out of County / 825 Delucchi Ln. Apt. 1168 ~ Reno, NV
• C. Sean Craig’s Plumbing LLC – Contractor / 3231 N. Decatur Blvd. Ste 225 ~ Las

Vegas, NV
• D. Supreme Plumbing LLC – Contractor / 395 Freeport Blvd. Ste. 8 ~ Sparks, NV
• E. Westex Consulting Engineers, LLC – Professional / 220 S. Rock Ste. 12 ~ Reno, NV

• Recommended motion: Approval

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 7757200668

• Staff Summary: Second readings of submitted business license applications are
normally approved unless, for various reasons, requested to be continued to the next
meeting. A follow-up letter noting those to be continued or approved will be submitted
prior to the Commission Meeting. The business licenses are then printed and mailed to
the new business license holder.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification

      32



[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office March 27, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the April 04, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

SECOND READINGS: 

A. Custom Sign Service LLC – Contractor / 3350 Centennial Park Dr. ~ Carson City, NV

B. RAD Pizza – Out of County / 825 Delucchi Ln. Apt. 1168 ~ Reno, NV

C. Sean Craig’s Plumbing LLC – Contractor / 3231 N. Decatur Blvd. Ste 225 ~ Las Vegas, NV

D. Supreme Plumbing LLC – Contractor / 395 Freeport Blvd. Ste. 8 ~ Sparks, NV

E. Westex Consulting Engineers, LLC – Professional / 220 S. Rock Ste. 12 ~ Reno, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 4/4/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 60

Agenda Item Type: Closed Session

• Title: Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for the purpose of
conferring with the fire district chief and legal counsel regarding labor negotiations with
the Storey County Firefighters’ Association IAFF Local 4227. This meeting will begin
directly after the regular commission meeting.

• Recommended motion: No action

• Prepared by: Mitzi Carter

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: Pursuant to NRS 288 and the existing bargaining agreement with the
Storey County Firefighters’ Association and Storey County are proposed to be modified
pursuant to tentatively agreed successor agreements.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: UNK

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     35


	Agenda
	Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the April 4, 2023 meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 7th, 2023 meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the February 21, 2023 meeting.
	Business License First Readings -- Approval
	Approval of claims in the amount of $2,790,185.09.
	Removal of uncollectable delinquent Business Personal Property tax bills.  Total amount of bills to be deleted including penalties and interest $125,430.25.
	Remove of tax bills for demolished Mobile Home.  MH000169 totaling $310.40.
	Removal of tax bills for MH001154 TE Bertagnolli & Associates 2009-2023. $1255.48 mobile home destroyed.
	Public Hearing on proposed Resolutions 23-671 and 23-675 as described: RESOLUTION 23-671, proposes the identification of a road commonly known as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment
	Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-671 which proposes the identification of a road commonly known as County Road Number 910040 (3 segments), Yellowjacket Road/American Flat (Segment 1), American Flat/American
	Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-675, which proposes the identification of a road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910045 pursuant to Nevada revised statutes 403.170 AND 405.191 as a minor county r
	Report of public works department regarding roads and highways in Storey County.
	Brian Mitchell, Director of the Governor’s Office of Science, Innovation and Technology (OSIT), is here to present the broadband infrastructure and digital equity planning process taking place throughout the state of Nevada.
	Presentation by the Virginia City Silver Circuits robotics team including a robotics demonstration and discussion about their curriculum and achievements.
	Update, discussion, and provide direction to the Fire Chief and appropriate Fire District Staff along with professional services, regarding upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County Fire Protection District including
	Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Fire District Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.
	Update, discussion, and provide direction to county staff and lobbyists regarding upcoming bills and legislation affecting Storey County including, but not limited to, the following, and other properly related matters: AB63 I80 Safety Corridors; SB81 Regi
	To authorize the county manager to execute a license agreement between Storey County and Renegade Towers, LLC to permit the construction of a commercial communications tower on county property at 8665 USA Parkway, McCarran Nevada for a monthly license fee
	Consideration and Possible Action of Grant of Easement File No. 2023-010 to NV Energy for utilities within a portion of the Electric Avenue Right-of-Way at the intersection of USA Pkwy, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.
	Consideration and Possible Action of Grant of Easement File No. 2023-011 to NV Energy for utilities within a portion of the Electric Avenue Right-of-Way east of USA Pkwy, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.
	Consideration and possible approval of Resolution No. 23-676 of the Board of Storey County Commissioners extending the declaration of a state of emergency in Storey County due to unforeseen severe weather events causing sudden flooding, avalanche, and m
	Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.
	Discussion and possible action to accept assignment of lease of property within the Silver Terrace cemeteries from Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF) which is presently leased to CCF for 99 years for $1 per year by Consolidated Virginia Mining Company (CV
	Review and possible approval of the 2023-2024 Storey County Water and Sewer Tentative Budget for submission to the Nevada Department of Taxation.
	For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings.
	Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for the purpose of conferring with the fire district chief and legal counsel regarding labor negotiations with the Storey County Firefighters’ Association IAFF Local 4227.



